SUPREME COURT OF VICTORIA

COURT OF APPEAL
S APCR 2019 0029

GEORGE PELL Applicant
v
THE QUEEN Respondent
JUDGES: FERGUSON CJ, MAXWELL P and WEINBERG JA
WHERE HELD: MELBOURNE
DATE OF HEARING: 5 and 6 June 2019
DATE OF JUDGMENT: 21 August 2019
MEDIUM NEUTRAL CITATION: [2019] VSCA 186 First revision: 22 August 2019

para [386]

Second revision: 6 December 2019

para [418]
JUDGMENT APPEALED FROM: [2019] VCC 260 (Chief Judge Kidd)

CRIMINAL LAW - Appeal - Conviction - Sexual offences - Sexual penetration of child
under 16, indecent act with child under 16 - Whether verdicts unreasonable - Crown case
depended on complainant’s account - Second alleged victim deceased - Whether
complainant credible and reliable - Whether alleged offending improbable - Whether
practical impossibility - Opportunity evidence - Whether realistic opportunity for
offending to occur - Reasonably open to jury to convict - Appeal dismissed - M v The
Queen (1994) 181 CLR 487, Libke v The Queen (2007) 230 CLR 559 applied - Criminal Procedure
Act 2009 s 276(1)(a).

CRIMINAL LAW - Trial - Evidence - Jury aids - Animation - Moving visual
representation - Evidence given by multiple witnesses as to movements of persons - Judge
refused defence application to use animation in final address - Whether visual
representation fairly reflected effect of evidence - Whether error of law - Power of judge to
ensure jury not misled - Leave to appeal refused.

CRIMINAL LAW - Trial - Arraignment - Accused must be arraigned in presence of jury
panel - Arraignment viewed by jury panel through video-link - Whether physical presence
required - Whether fundamental defect - Whether miscarriage of justice - Leave to appeal
refused - Criminal Procedure Act 2009 ss 210, 217, Juries Act 2000 pt 6.

WORDS AND PHRASES - ‘in the presence of’.

COURT OF APPEAL,
459 Lonsdale Street, Melbourne VIC 3000



APPEARANCES: Counsel Solicitors

For the Applicant Mr B Walker SC Galbally & O’Bryan
with Ms R Shann

For the Respondent Mr C B Boyce QC Mr ] Cain, Solicitor for
with Mr M ] Gibson QC Public Prosecutions
and Ms A Ellis

COURT OF APPEAL,

459 Lonsdale Street, Melbourne VIC 3000



FERGUSON CJ

MAXWELL P
TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUIMIATY «ecnveneerrenneninnenesnintisenensesessssessessessessssssssssssessssssssessessassssssssssssessessessessessssssssssssesssssessessessasss 1
Approaching the unreasonableness GroUnd........ceoirevriesessisessisesssesessisessisessssessssesssssessssens 6
The Jury’s AAVANTAGE ....uuueneenenverirenrireriniinsiissisnssisisssessissssesissssissssessssssssssssssssessssssssssessssssssssssassnes 9
THE CHOTWIN CASC.uunnnnerererererenrsssssesesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssassssess 14
PART I: THE ASSESSMENT OF CREDIBILITY AND RELIABILITY ......cccecevunuiuiueensnnnns 17
The SEOTY TWAS fAISE auunununenrinireririririinsirisisiissinsisssesesssissssessssesssssssssssssssssssssssesssssssssssssssssssnssess 21
TIPTODADIIILY cunnvennnnreninrencnnnirnninnncncnncssesesssessesesssssssssssesssssesnsssssssssssssesssnssssssssssanssssnsssnanes 31
TIPOSSTDILILY cuvnenvrcrrririririinnininisinisinssisisesesssissesssssssssessssssessssessssssassssssssessasssssssssssanssssssssssanes 36
B'S AEMIAL ettt e a s e bbb et n 54
Cardinal Pell's Aenials .....uuceisinniniriininninisiisssisiscnsssesisssisssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss 56
The absence Of FATHET EGAMN...ueirireneeiiinisineiissssesessssssisssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss 57
PART II: THE EVIDENCE IN DETAIL ......couiiniininrinieninnenninensnessncsesssesssessssssesssssssssssssaees 60
Fabrication And iHUENTION ......eeiecvieiinscnitniiscscesssesesssssssessssssssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssasans 61
The changes in A’S ACCOUNTE .nnneeeririrereiissirieiissesesesssesesssssesessssssssssesssssssssesssssssssssssssssess 66
The “solid obsStacles’ t0 CONVICLION .uuunneneveirircreiiirircneriissssisissiissesesesssesesssssssesssssssssssssssssns 75
A. The timing of the alleged assaults wWas iMPOSSIDIe .......uuuuenevevrerircerenrinirciisinncsecnnesenens 76

B. It was not possible for Pell to be alone in the sacristies only a few minutes after the end

C. Itwas not possible for Pell to be robed and alone in the Priests’ Sacristy after Mass ...99
D. It was not possible that two choirboys could be assaulted in the Priests’ Sacristy after

Mass DY Pell UNAELECLEA......unnnnnerencnerenererenenenenenenenenenenenenesesesesesesesesesesesesesssssesssssesssesssssenes 101
E. It was not possible to leave a procession UNNOTICEd ......uuneerirerunreresrisesusseressiscsnssesessenees 103
F. Would be seen by the organist (Mallinson or Cox) in the south transept........................ 103
G. There were choir rehearsals on 15 and 22 December 1996.............uuuuerernvusuereernsnsrerenensnnns 103
H. It was not possible to rejoin the choit UNNOTICEd .......uuuerirevirienrirenniresunsiensiessesessssesessens 104
I. It was not possible to part Pell’s 10DES .....euirerenserinsiresnisisissisinsisissssisnssesssssssssssesssssssases 114
J.  The second incident could not have happened in 1997 at a Mass said by another priest

...................................................................................................................................................... 114
K. The second incident could not have occurred UNNOLICEd ........uuuuueueeeueverenennnrincncnennnnnen 115
L. Pell would not be alone among the CHOLY .....evevrerensiresrisisinsisissisissssessssessssessssssessssessses 118
M. Pell would not have been in the corridor between the Priests’ Sacristy and the

Archbishop’s Sacristy moments after Mass fiiSHEd ..........uucucueevuvrercrcesesreririesennnsesesens 119
PART III: OVERALL CONCLUSION .....iiniencnsniniesesnnsissssesessssssssssssssssssssessssssssssssssass 120
ANNEXUTE A ..o 322

Pell v The Queen TABLE OF CONTENTS



FERGUSON CJ

MAXWELL P:
Summary
1 Late last year, Cardinal George Pell was convicted of five specific sexual

offences alleged to have been committed on two occasions in the mid-1990s, when he
was the Catholic Archbishop of Melbourne. (A previous trial on the same charges
had ended when the jury were unable to reach a verdict.) Cardinal Pell’s position is
that he should not have been convicted. That is what we must grapple with in this

appeal.

2 Cardinal Pell’s conviction and this appeal have attracted widespread
attention, both in Australia and beyond. He is a senior figure in the Catholic Church
and is internationally well known. As the trial judge commented when sentencing
Cardinal Pell, there has been vigorous and sometimes emotional criticism of the
Cardinal and he has been publicly vilified in some sections of the community.!
There has also been strong public support for the Cardinal by others. Indeed, it is

fair to say that his case has divided the community.

3 It is important to stress at the outset that Cardinal Pell’s conviction only
concerns the five offences alleged to have been committed by him. Again, as the trial
judge observed, he was ‘not to be made a scapegoat for any [perceived] failings ... of
the Catholic Church” nor for any failure in relation to child sexual abuse by other
clergy.? His conviction and sentence could not be a vindication of the trauma

suffered by other victims of sexual abuse.?

4 The offences in respect of which Cardinal Pell was found guilty by a County

Court jury were one charge of sexual penetration of a child under 16 and four

1 DPP v Pell [2019] VCC 260, [5] (‘Reasons’).
2 Tbid [10].
3 Tbid [11].
Pell v The Queen 1 FERGUSON (]
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charges of indecent act with a child under 16. The trial ran for five weeks. The jury
deliberated for several days. Cardinal Pell was sentenced to 6 years’ imprisonment,

with a non-parole period of 3 years and 8 months.

5 Cardinal Pell now seeks leave to appeal against conviction. There are three
proposed grounds, the principal of which is that the guilty verdicts are
‘“unreasonable and cannot be supported having regard to the evidence’* (‘the
unreasonableness ground’). The other grounds concern aspects of the conduct of the

trial.

6 At the time of the alleged offending, Cardinal Pell was the Catholic
Archbishop of Melbourne. The offences were alleged to have been committed on
two occasions, in 1996-1997, against choirboys in the St Patrick’s Cathedral choir.
The first occasion was said to have involved two boys, to whom we will refer as ‘A’
and ‘B’ respectively.> The second occasion involved A alone. The first incident was
alleged to have taken place in the Priests’ Sacristy at St Patrick’s. The second
incident was alleged to have taken place in the corridor outside the Archbishop’s

and Priests” Sacristies at the Cathedral. On the next page is a plan of the Cathedral.

4 Criminal Procedure Act 2009 s 276(1)(a).

5 To ensure that there is no possibility of identification of the complainant and the other boy,
this judgment has been anonymised by the adoption of pseudonyms.

FERGUSON (]
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7 The prosecution case rested on the evidence given by A. By the time A first
made a complaint to police, in June 2015, B had died from accidental causes. In 2001,
when asked by his mother whether he had ever been “interfered with or touched up’

while in the Cathedral choir, B said that he had not.

8 As will appear, the prosecution also called evidence from a number of
witnesses who held official positions at the Cathedral, or were members of the choir,
during the relevant period. As the judge told the jury in his summing-up, their
evidence as to processes and practices at the Cathedral at the relevant time went to
the issue of whether there was ‘a realistic opportunity’ for the offending to have
taken place. (Like the trial judge, we will refer to this evidence as the ‘opportunity

evidence’.)

9 Included among these witnesses were:
° Charles Portelli — the Master of Ceremonies to Cardinal Pell;
. Daniel McGlone — altar server;
. Jeffrey Connor — altar server;
° Maxwell Potter — the sacristan;
. Peter Finnigan — the choir marshal;
. John Mallinson — organist and choirmaster; and

Geoffrey Cox — assistant organist and choirmaster.®

10 The defence called no evidence at the trial. Earlier, Cardinal Pell had
participated voluntarily in a record of interview with police. The jury were shown a

recording of that interview, in which Cardinal Pell strongly denied the allegations.

11 The prosecution case was that A was a witness of truth, on the basis of whose
6 A list of all the witnesses referred to in these reasons is attached.
Pell v The Queen 4 FERGUSON (]
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evidence the jury could be satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that the events he
described had occurred. The defence case was that A’s account was a fabrication or
a fantasy and that, in any event, the evidence of the opportunity witnesses, taken as a
whole, combined to render A’s account ‘either literally impossible, or so unlikely it’s

of no realistic possibility’.

Where the unreasonableness ground — often referred to as the ‘“unsafe and
unsatisfactory’ ground’” — is raised, the task for the appeal court is to decide
whether, on the whole of the evidence, it was open to the jury to be satisfied beyond
reasonable doubt that the accused was guilty. In answering that question, the High

Court has said, the appeal court

must not disregard or discount either the consideration that the jury is the

body entrusted with the primary responsibility of determining guilt or

innocence, or the consideration that the jury has had the benefit of having

seen and heard the witnesses.8

It should be emphasised that the inquiry which this ground requires is a
purely factual one. Unlike the position where a ground of appeal contends that the
trial judge has erred in law — for example, by admitting certain evidence or in
giving (or failing to give) the jury a particular direction of law — no discrete
question of law arises.? Rather, the appeal court reviews the evidence as it was

presented to the jury and asks itself whether — on that factual material — it was

reasonably open to the jury to convict the accused.

Having reviewed the whole of the evidence, we would answer that question
affirmatively. In our view, it was open to the jury to be satisfied beyond reasonable
doubt that Cardinal Pell was guilty of the offences charged. That is, there was
nothing about A’s evidence, or about the opportunity evidence, which meant that

the jury “‘must have had a doubt” about the truth of A’s account. It is not enough, as

Pell v The Queen 5

7 SKA v The Queen (2011) 243 CLR 400, 405 [12] (French CJ, Gummow and Kiefel J]) (‘SKA”).
8 M v The Queen (1994) 181 CLR 487, 493 (Mason CJ, Deane, Dawson and Toohey JJ).

9 We note that, for the purposes of judicial review, the question whether a finding of fact was
reasonably open on the evidence before the decision-maker is conventionally characterised as
a question of law: S v Crimes Compensation Tribunal [1998] 1 VR 83, 89-91.

FERGUSON (]
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the authorities make clear, that one or more jurors ‘might have had a doubt’.10

These reasons will first address what senior counsel for Cardinal Pell
described as the appropriate ‘judicial method” for dealing with the unreasonableness
ground. We then deal with the critical question of A’s credibility and reliability. As
will appear, the submission for Cardinal Pell was that the jury ‘must have had a
doubt’” about A’s account, the content of which was variously said to be false,
improbable and impossible. Finally on this ground, we deal with the aspects of the

evidence said to constitute “solid obstacles in the path of a conviction’.

Ground 2 concerns a ruling by the judge which prevented the defence
presenting to the jury what was said to be a ‘moving visual representation of its
impossibility argument’. Ground 3 concerns whether the jury panel was present
when the arraignment took place. For the reasons given by Weinberg JA, whose
judgment we have had the advantage of reading in draft, we would refuse leave to
appeal on both grounds. Accordingly, although we would grant leave to appeal on

the unreasonableness ground, we would dismiss the appeal.

It should be noted that there is no ground of appeal challenging any aspect of
the judge’s charge to the jury. As the parties acknowledged during the hearing, his
Honour’s charge was exemplary. Like his conduct of the entire trial, it was clear,

balanced and scrupulously fair.

Approaching the unreasonableness ground

The legislature has specified that an appeal against conviction must be
allowed ‘if the appellant satisfies the court that the ... verdict of the jury is
unreasonable or cannot be supported having regard to the evidence’.’ The words of
the statute define the test which faces Cardinal Pell and dictate what this Court must

do. If we are satisfied that the convictions were ‘unreasonable or cannot be

Pell v The Queen 6

10 Libke v The Queen (2007) 230 CLR 559, 596-7 [113] (Hayne J).

1 Criminal Procedure Act 2009 s 276(1)(a).
FERGUSON (]
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supported having regard to the evidence’, then we ‘must allow the appeal’.1?

19 The approach which an appellate court must take when addressing the
unreasonableness ground was defined, authoritatively, by the joint judgment of
Mason CJ, Deane, Dawson and Toohey JJ in M v The Queen (‘M’).13> Their Honours

said that the appeal court must ask itself

whether it thinks that upon the whole of the evidence it was open to the jury
to be satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that the accused was guilty.14

20 Importantly, the Court in M went on to say:

In most cases a doubt experienced by an appellate court will be a doubt which
a jury ought also to have experienced. It is only where a jury’s advantage in
seeing and hearing the evidence is capable of resolving a doubt experienced
by a court of criminal appeal that the court may conclude that no miscarriage
of justice occurred. That is to say, where the evidence lacks credibility for
reasons which are not explained by the manner in which it was given, a
reasonable doubt experienced by the court is a doubt which a reasonable jury
ought to have experienced.

21 Subsequently, in Libke v The Queen ('Libke’),'® Hayne ] (with whom Gleeson CJ
and Heydon ] agreed) elucidated the M test in terms which emphasise the high

hurdle which an appellant must overcome:

But the question for an appellate court is whether it was open to the jury to be
satisfied of guilt beyond reasonable doubt, which is to say whether the jury
must, as distinct from might, have entertained a doubt about the appellant’s
guilt. It is not sufficient to show that there was material which might have
been taken by the jury to be sufficient to preclude satisfaction of guilt to the
requisite standard.”

12 Ibid.

13 (1994) 181 CLR 487. The relevant statutory provision was not in identical terms to s 276(1)(a)
Criminal Procedure Act 2009 but used the same terminology. In that case, s 6(1) of the Criminal
Appeal Act 1912 (NSW) provided, so far as relevant, that the court must allow an appeal
against conviction if the court is ‘of opinion that the verdict of the jury should be set aside on
the ground that it is unreasonable, or cannot be supported, having regard to the evidence’.
See also Jones v The Queen (1997) 191 CLR 439, 452 (Gaudron, McHugh and Gummow ]J);
MFA v The Queen (2002) 213 CLR 606, 614-15 [25] (Gleeson CJ, Hayne and Callinan JJ), 623
[57] McHugh, Gummow and Kirby J]).

14 M (1994) 181 CLR 487, 493.
15 Ibid 494.
16 (2007) 230 CLR 559.
iz Ibid 596-7 [113] (emphasis in original) (citations omitted).
Pell v The Queen 7 FERGUSON CJ
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22 This seminal statement echoed language used by other members of the High
Court, both in M and previously. Thus, in Chidiac v The Queen ('Chidiac’),'® Dawson ]
had said:

If upon the whole of the evidence a jury, acting reasonably, was bound to have
a reasonable doubt, then a verdict of guilty will be unsafe and
unsatisfactory ...19
In M, Brennan ] expressed agreement with this formulation,?® and McHugh ] said
that the correct test was:
whether a reasonable jury must have had a reasonable doubt about the
accused’s guilt.2!

23 In R v Klamo (‘Klamo’),22 Maxwell P (with whom Vincent and Neave JJA

agreed) summarised the approach required by M and Libke and said:
In other words, the question posed in M v R, namely:
Was it reasonably open to the jury to be satisfied beyond reasonable doubt of
the accused’s guilt?
requires the court of criminal appeal to decide:
whether the state of the evidence was such as to preclude a jury acting
reasonably from being satisfied of guilt to the requisite standard.
To adopt some helpful metaphors from recent interstate appellate decisions,
the question is whether there was a “solid obstacle to reaching a conclusion
beyond reasonable doubt’ or whether, instead, the ‘path to a conviction was
open’.»

24 Senior counsel for Cardinal Pell accepted that the relevant formulations were
effectively interchangeable. That is, to say that the jury “must have had a doubt” was
simply a different way of saying that it was ‘not reasonably open’ to the jury to
conclude beyond reasonable doubt that the offences had been committed. Counsel
18 (1991) 171 CLR 432.

9 Ibid 451-2 (emphasis added).
20 (1994) 181 CLR 487, 501-2.
2 Ibid 525. See also MFA (2002) 213 CLR 606, 622-3 [53]-[54] (McHugh, Gummow and Kirby
1))
2 (2008) 18 VR 644.
z Ibid 653-4 [40] (citations omitted).
Pell v The Queen 8 FERGUSON (]
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26

27

submitted that the ‘not reasonably open’ formulation was to be preferred, since it
had ‘the huge advantage of repeating the word in the statute’.?# Consistently with
the authorities, the written case for Cardinal Pell accepted — and invoked — the

‘solid obstacle” metaphor from Klamo.

As already noted, the submission for Cardinal Pell was that, on the whole of
the evidence, we as appellate judges should have a reasonable doubt about whether
the offences were committed. Following the M approach, it was said, we should
then take what was referred to in argument as ‘the second step’. That is, we should
ask ourselves whether the jury’s ‘advantage in seeing and hearing the evidence” was
capable of resolving that doubt. The submission for Cardinal Pell was that, whatever
the jury’s advantage might have been, it could not dispel the doubts which would

necessarily be engendered by our review of the evidence.

This concept of the jury’s ‘advantage’” warrants further examination. As
already noted, that advantage must be considered by the appeal court if it becomes
necessary to take the ‘second step’, that is, if there is a ‘“doubt experienced by [the]
appellate court’.?> More generally, the concept invites attention to the differences in
character and function between the appellate court and the jury. The High Court has
said repeatedly that the jury is ‘the constitutional tribunal for deciding issues of fact’
and that, accordingly, the setting aside of a jury’s verdict on the unreasonableness
ground is a serious step.26 It is appropriate, therefore, to address this issue at the

outset.

The jury’s advantage
Traditionally, of course, the jury in a criminal trial had what McHugh J in M

described as the ‘incomparable advantage’ of seeing and hearing the witnesses for

Pell v The Queen 9

2 See MFA (2002) 213 CLR 606, 624 [60]-[61] (McHugh, Gummow and Kirby JJ).
% M (1994) 181 CLR 487, 494 (Mason CJ, Deane, Dawson and Toohey JJ).

26 MFA (2002) 213 CLR 606, 621 [49]; R v Baden-Clay (2016) 258 CLR 308 — see [29] below.
FERGUSON (]
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themselves.?” By contrast, the appeal court had recourse only to the transcript of the

evidence. Thus, in Whitehorn v The Queen (‘Whitehorn”),2® Dawson J said:

In particular, a court of appeal does not usually have the opportunity to
assess the worth of a witness’s evidence by seeing and hearing that evidence
given. Moreover, the jury performs its function within the atmosphere of the
particular trial which it may not be possible to reproduce upon appeal. These
considerations point to important differences between the functions of a jury
and those of a court of appeal. A jury is able, and is required, to evaluate the
evidence in a manner in which a court of appeal cannot.?

28 Subsequently, in Chidiac,3 Mason CJ said:

The constitutional responsibility of the jury to decide upon the verdict and the
advantage which the jury enjoys in deciding questions of credibility by virtue
of seeing and hearing the witnesses impose some restraints upon the exercise
of an appellate court’s power to pronounce that a verdict is unsafe.3!

29 More recently, in R v Baden-Clay (‘Baden-Clay’),*?> a unanimous High Court
said:

It is fundamental to our system of criminal justice in relation to allegations of
serious crimes tried by a jury that the jury is ‘the constitutional tribunal for
deciding issues of fact’. Given the central place of the jury trial in the
administration of criminal justice over the centuries, and the abiding
importance of the role of the jury as representative of the community in that
respect, the setting aside of a jury’s verdict on the ground that it is
“unreasonable’ ... is a serious step, not to be taken without particular regard
to the advantage enjoyed by the jury over a court of appeal which has not
seen or heard the witnesses called at trial.3

30 In recent years, however, the gap between the position of the jury and that of
the appeal court has narrowed in important respects. Reforms to the procedure for

the trial of sexual offences have led to the pre-recording of a complainant’s

examination in chief and — in the case of child complainants — of the “special
z M (1994) 181 CLR 487, 517.
28 (1983) 152 CLR 657.
2 Ibid 687.
30 (1991) 171 CLR 432.
31 Ibid 443.
32 (2016) 258 CLR 308.
33 Ibid 329 [65] (citations omitted) (French CJ, Kiefel, Bell, Keane and Gordon JJ).
Pell v The Queen 10 FERGUSON CJ
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33

hearing’ at which the complainant is cross-examined in the presence of a judge.3*
Pre-recording has the singular advantage that, in the event that a trial is aborted or a
successful appeal results in a retrial, the complainant is not required to give evidence

a second time.

Pre-recording also means that, in an appeal against conviction in such a case,
the appeal court can view for itself the video recording of the complainant’s
evidence. In this case, both A’s examination in chief and the cross-examination by
counsel for Cardinal Pell were recorded. The examination in chief was pre-recorded,
and the cross-examination was recorded as it took place in front of the jury at the
first trial. When the first trial resulted in a hung jury, the recorded evidence was able

to be played at the second trial.

Given the centrality of A’s evidence, this Court proposed to the parties in
advance of the appeal hearing that each member of the appeal bench should view
the video recording in advance. The defence’s primary submission was that we
should not watch any of the evidence. Their secondary submission, in the event that
we disagreed, was that in addition to A’s evidence the Court should view the video
recording of the evidence given by a number of the opportunity witnesses, as
nominated by the defence.3> It was pointed out, correctly, that this would avoid the

risk of imbalance identified in SKA.3¢ We have proceeded on that basis.

Indeed, we have approached our task by trying to put ourselves in the closest
possible position to that of the jury. We have done so by reading the transcript
(which runs to approximately 2000 pages), watching some of the oral evidence and
attending a view of the Cathedral. For the same reason, we have refrained from

looking at material that was not before the jury but was available to us. Jurors are

Pell v The Queen 11

34 Criminal Procedure Act 2009 pt 8.2, divs 6-7.

3 As is now customary, the entire trial was recorded. The defence nominated the following
witnesses: Charles Portelli, Maxwell Potter, Daniel McGlone, Jeffrey Connor, Peter Finnigan,
Geoffrey Cox, John Mallinson, Rodney Dearing, David Dearing, Luciano Parissi, Robert
Bonomy.

36 (2011) 243 CLR 400, 410 [28]-[29] (French CJ, Gummow and Kiefel J]).

FERGUSON (]
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told that they must decide the case on the basis of the evidence before them. They
do not know about evidence that has been excluded, nor do they even know that an
application for exclusion of particular evidence has been made. We have not sought

to search for material or reasons connected with any such application.

For the same reason, we have not read A’s two police statements. They were
referred to in his cross-examination but were not in evidence before the jury. On the
other hand, we have each read the judge’s reasons for granting leave to the
prosecution to cross-examine some of the witnesses.?” We also read the respective
written cases and listened to the oral submissions of the parties on the appeal.
Inevitably, matters were put to us with some slight differences in emphasis from the

way they were put in closing submissions at the trial.

In those circumstances, what remains of the jury’s ‘incomparable advantage’?
This Court does not, of course, ‘perform its function within the atmosphere of the
particular trial’3® And there are other important differences which are likewise
unaffected by the appellate court’s ability to view recorded evidence and participate
in a view. The first is that jurors hear the witnesses in an unbroken sequence and are
able to undertake continuous evaluation of the evidence — both individually and
collectively — as the case progresses.3? The review of evidence by appellate judges
is, by contrast, both fragmented and elongated and, for the most part, done

individually.40

The second difference is that the experience of viewing oral evidence in a
courtroom is superior to the two-dimensional view of a witness seen on a video
recording. While we were in the same position as the jury in relation to A’s evidence

and other recorded evidence, the jury had the advantage of seeing and hearing, at

Pell v The Queen 12

37 See [152]-[154] below.
38 Whitehorn (1983) 152 CLR 657, 687 (Dawson J).

% In a civil context, see Fox v Percy (2003) 214 CLR 118, 126 [23] (Gleeson CJ, Gummow and
Kirby JJ), and the cases there cited.
40 See Glover v The Queen [2015] NSWCCA 285, [104] (McCallum J).
FERGUSON CJ
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close quarters, almost all of the opportunity witnesses.*!

The third difference is that of collective deliberation. Each juror engages with
11 others whose only common attribute is that each has been present for the entirety
of the evidence, the final addresses and the judge’s charge. Related to this is the
effect of the requirement for unanimity (or a very high majority).#> As Heydon ] said

in AK v Western Australia:

It cannot be easy to obtain unanimity or a high majority amongst quite a large
number of decision-makers reflecting the diversity of the sections of the
community they belong to, the diversity of human personality and the
diversity of human experience. The process must tend to generate its own
discipline — cause a careful scrutiny of the evidence, a dilution and sloughing
away of individual prejudices, a pooling and sharing of human experience, a
solemnity of decision-making.43

In contrast, appellate judges do not have to agree with one another. They
form their views independently of each other and without the benefit of the
processes that a jury has for joint decision-making. Judges give written reasons for
their decisions. A jury does not. In our experience, independent decision-making
supported by a process of detailed writing is different from collective decision-

making. In many respects, the independence of each judge is the antithesis of the

jury’s collective responsibility .44

It is not necessary for the purposes of disposing of this appeal to elaborate on
the significance of these differences. (For the reasons set out below, we do not
‘experience a doubt” about the truth of A’s account or the Cardinal’s guilt, and hence
have not found it necessary to take ‘the second step’.) But it can be said with
confidence that no advance in technology can ever replicate the unique features of

jury deliberation and decision-making. Even if consideration of the

Pell v The Queen 13

4 Apart from A’s evidence, the only recorded evidence viewed by the jury was the evidence of
six choristers and a wine maker.

42 See Juries Act 2000 s 46.
43 (2008) 232 CLR 438, 477-8 [103].

4 The notion of collective responsibility is not inconsistent with the duty of each juror to
determine guilt or innocence on the evidence led at the trial: Papazoglou v The Queen (2015) 45
VR 457, 505-10.
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unreasonableness ground necessitated sitting through a video replay of the entire
trial, those features mean that an appeal court can never be in as good a position as

the jury.

In Baden-Clay, after affirming the ‘abiding importance” of jury trials in the

administration of criminal justice, the High Court said:

With those considerations in mind, a court of criminal appeal is not to
substitute trial by an appeal court for trial by jury.#

Recognising and respecting the differences we have identified should help to ensure

that no such substitution occurs.

Finally, we would respectfully adopt what was said by McHugh, Gummow
and Kirby JJ in MFA v The Queen ("MFA’), as follows:

A jury is taken to be a kind of microcosm of the community. A ‘verdict of [a]
jury’, particularly in serious criminal cases, is accepted, symbolically, as
attracting to decisions concerning the liberty and reputation of accused
persons a special authority and legitimacy and hence finality.4

The Crown case

This section of the reasons repeats the summary of the Crown case as set out
in the appeal documents. The summary should be understood as representing the
prosecution’s version of the relevant events. It provides essential context for the

analysis which follows.

The first incident (Charges 1-4): The prosecution case was that after Sunday
solemn Mass in the latter part of 1996, Cardinal Pell committed a number of sexual
offences against two choristers who were then 13 years old. The prosecution relied

upon the evidence of A,% namely, that he and his friend B had detached themselves

Pell v The Queen 14

4 Baden-Clay (2016) 258 CLR 308, 330 [66] (French CJ, Kiefel, Bell, Keane and Gordon JJ).
46 (2002) 213 CLR 606, 621 [48]. See also R v BJB [2005] NSWCCA 441, [34] (Rothman J).

47 It may not be entirely correct to say that A’s evidence was uncorroborated. To an extent his
evidence was supported by reference to knowledge that he possessed which he could not
have come by unless he was telling the truth. In any event, there is nothing particularly
unusual in a jury convicting an accused on the strength of a so-called ‘uncorroborated’
complainant. A finding of guilt in such circumstances does not give rise, in and of itself, to a
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from the choir during its procession out of the Cathedral. A said that they re-entered
the Cathedral via the south transept. The two then made their way along the sacristy
corridor. They entered the Priests’ Sacristy, an area which was off-limits to
choristers. A had no recollection of ever being in this room before. Evidence was
given by Charles Portelli that, during the latter part of 1996, the Priests’ Sacristy was
being used by the Archbishop for robing and disrobing due to the unavailability of
the Archbishop’s Sacristy.

Once inside the Priests” Sacristy, A and B made their way to an alcove in the
corner (described as a wood-panelled area resembling a storage kitchenette with
cupboards) which was a little bit concealed. There they located some sacramental
wine. This was from the panelled area in the cupboards. They began ‘swigging’ the
wine. They had barely opened the bottle and taken a couple of swigs when Cardinal
Pell entered the room alone. He was wearing robes. Cardinal Pell planted himself in
the doorway and said something like “What are you doing in here?” or “You're in
trouble’. The boys froze and then Cardinal Pell undid his trousers or his belt. He

started moving underneath his robes.

B was saying ‘Can you let us go? We didn’t do anything’. After pulling B
aside, Cardinal Pell pulled out his penis and grabbed B’s head. A could see B’s head
being lowered towards Cardinal Pell’s genitalia. B started squirming. He was
struggling. A could see Cardinal Pell’s hands around the back of B’s head. B was
crouched before Cardinal Pell and his legs were flailing around a bit. B’s head was
being controlled and it was down near Cardinal Pell’s genitals. A heard some
whimpering and heard B’s discomfort. He saw that B’s face looked terrified. This

took place for barely a minute or two (Charge 1).

Then Cardinal Pell turned to A and pushed his penis into A’s mouth. A was
pushed down and crouching or kneeling closer to the corner of the room where the

cupboards were. Cardinal Pell was standing. His penis was erect. A was ‘freaking

Pell v The Queen 15
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out’. This happened for a short period of time. It would not have been any more

than two minutes (Charge 2).

Cardinal Pell then instructed A to undo his pants and to take them off. A
dropped his pants and underwear. Cardinal Pell started touching A’s penis and
testicles with his hands (Charge 3). As he did this, Cardinal Pell was using his other
hand to touch his own penis (Charge 4). Cardinal Pell was sort of crouched, almost

on a knee. These two instances of touching took a minute or two.

The two boys made some objections but did not quite yell. They were
sobbing, in shock, and whimpering. During the offending, Cardinal Pell told them

to be quiet, trying to stop them from crying.

After Cardinal Pell had stopped, A gathered himself and his clothing. He and
B exited the Cathedral the same way as they had entered, via the sacristy corridor to
the south transept. They entered the choir room very quickly after what had
happened and rejoined some of the choir who were mingling around and finishing
up for the day. The two then left the Cathedral precinct. A did not complain to
anyone, including his parents on the ride home or at any time after. Nor did he ever

discuss the offending with B.

The second incident (Charge 5): At least a month after the first incident,
again following a Sunday solemn Mass at St Patrick’s Cathedral, A was processing
with the choir back through the sacristy corridor towards the choir room. As A was
walking between the entry to the Priests’ Sacristy and the Archbishop’s Sacristy,
Cardinal Pell pushed himself up against A on a wall and squeezed A’s testicles and
penis over his robes. Cardinal Pell was robed at the time. He did not say anything.

A did not tell B about the second incident.

A made a complaint to police in June 2015. B died in 2014, having never
made any complaint to police. When asked by his mother in 2001, at age 17 or 18,
whether he had ever been “interfered with or touched up” when he was in the choir,
B said ‘No’.
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The prosecution called 23 other witnesses at trial. Most of these witnesses
were involved or associated with Sunday solemn Mass at St Patrick’s Cathedral
during the relevant period. As mentioned earlier, most of these witnesses gave
evidence as to the general or normal procedure followed at Sunday solemn Mass in
late 1996 and early 1997 and, in particular, as to the movements of the choir and of

those involved in the Mass. We discuss their evidence in detail below.

PART I: THE ASSESSMENT OF CREDIBILITY AND RELIABILITY

The critical issue in this trial was whether A’s evidence was credible and

reliable. As the judge told the jury in his charge:

In order to convict you must be satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that [A’s]
account is true. That is, that the offences, as described by him, actually
happened.

To assist the jury in assessing the evidence, his Honour explained the difference

between credibility and reliability:

Broadly speaking, credibility concerns honesty; is the witness telling the

truth; and reliability is different. The witness may be honest, but have a poor

memory, or indeed be mistaken. So there are those two aspects to a witness’

evidence, and I am sure that corresponds with your day-to-day experience in

life in judging people.

Ordinarily, one person’s assessment of the credibility of another person is an
intuitive judgment, made without reflection or analysis. In a criminal trial, however,
the jury will very often be asked to be both reflective and analytical in their

assessment of a witness’s credibility, especially when the witness’s evidence is — as

it was here — critically important.

So it was in the present trial in relation to A’s evidence. The prosecutor

invited the jury to reflect and to analyse. First, he submitted, they should

step back for a moment and simply think about the overall impression that
you were left with by [A’s] evidence when it finished ...

And then:

What was the overall impression you were left with? Did he strike you as
being an honest witness? An accurate historian? Was he being frank with
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you in his evidence? Did he appear to be recounting actual events and actual
experiences that he’d had? ...

Next, did he have the sort of memory blanks you would expect a person to
have about unimportant details or peripheral matters, the sorts of things
you’d expect a person not to recall with clarity, given the passage of time and
given their lack of significance to the actual event itself. The sort of things
you’d have a query about, you'd have reservations about if indeed he did
remember.

Alternatively, ask yourselves did he come across as a dishonest witness? A
person who is gilding the lily, a person who was embellishing things at every
opportunity that he had; making things up, exaggerating things, plugging
holes when he could, putting a positive spin on things and recounting
peripheral matters when you wouldn’t expect a person to be able to do that?

56 In his book, Evidence, Proof and Probability,* Sir Richard Eggleston identified a
number of considerations which a judge will typically take into account in the
assessment of a witness’s credibility.4® As jurors are typically asked to take into
account similar considerations, Sir Richard’s list provides a helpful framework
within which to review the parties” submissions about A’s credibility. The relevant

passage was as follows:

What are the factors that a judge takes into account when deciding whether a
witness is telling the truth? They may be listed as follows:

1) The inherent consistency of the story: if the evidence of the witness
contains internal contradictions, it cannot be accepted as a whole. The
question may be which part to reject.

2) Consistency with other witnesses: this, of course, involves making an
assessment also of the other witnesses, which in turn requires
consideration of the factors here set out in relation to those witnesses
also.

3) Consistency with undisputed facts: these include documentary
evidence (if not subject to attack), facts admitted by the parties, or
matters of common knowledge or experience.

4) The ‘credit’ of the witness: in addition to the observation of his
performance in the witness-box, this will include ... evidence of bias
against a party; or evidence of a general reputation for mendacity.

5) Observation of the witness: this includes physical manifestations of
truthfulness or mendacity, or of uncertainty, and also characteristics
observable in the witness-box or capable of being tested there (hearing

48 Richard Eggleston, Evidence, Proof and Probability (Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 2nd ed, 1983).
49 Ibid 192-3.
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and eyesight, capacity to judge distance or height) ...

6) The inherent probability or improbability of the story.50

We note that ‘observation of the witness’ is but one of the factors listed here,
and it appears well down the list. Appropriately, the judge in the present case
instructed the jury that there were ‘just too many variables to make the manner in
which a witness gives evidence the only, or even the most important, factor’. In our
consideration of the evidence we have likewise borne in mind the caution sounded
by the High Court in Fox v Percy about ‘the dangers of too readily drawing
conclusions about truthfulness and reliability solely or mainly from the appearance

of witnesses’.51 As far as possible, the Court said, conclusions should be arrived at

on the basis of contemporary materials, objectively established facts and the

apparent logic of events.52

In the present case, the Crown has consistently maintained that the jury were
entitled to accept A as a credible and reliable witness. The defence, on the other
hand, has consistently maintained that he could not be believed. On appeal, the
contention for Cardinal Pell was that the jury could not have been satisfied beyond

reasonable doubt that A’s account was true.

In support of their respective contentions, both sides rely on considerations of
the kind identified by Sir Richard Eggleston. Thus, the Crown points to aspects of
A’s account of the first incident as being consistent with undisputed facts about the
layout and furnishing of the Priests” Sacristy at the relevant time. A’s knowledge of
such details is said to confirm the truth of his statement that he was there when the
alleged offending took place. Reliance is also placed on what could be gathered from
‘observation of the witness’. More than once, senior counsel for the Crown in this

Court submitted that A was a ‘compelling” witness.

The defence, for its part, contends that the record of the trial reveals:

Pell v The Queen 19

50 Ibid.
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52 Ibid 129 [31].
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. inconsistencies between A’s evidence and the evidence of the

opportunity witnesses;

° inconsistencies between his evidence and what are said to be

undisputed facts;

. that A consciously altered his evidence when challenged, thus

demonstrating his untruthfulness; and

the inherent improbability of A’s story.

61 The defence attack on A’s credibility and reliability comprised three distinct
strands. The first was that A’s account was simply false. Either he was a liar, who
had modified his fabricated story ‘when faced with impossibilities and difficulties’,
or he was recounting a fantasy which he had, over time, come to believe was true.

According to the appeal submission:

[A’s] account was not simply implausible, he also changed it repeatedly in
critical ways, when he was presented with facts which exposed its
impossibility. At best, these repeated alterations revealed him to be uncertain
and unreliable about critical particulars of his own narrative. At worst, he
demonstrated a tendency to deliberately alter crucial elements of his story on
numerous occasions when confronted by solid obstacles. These repeated
attempts to make two factually impossible allegations marginally more
realistic ultimately failed.

62 The second strand was that of inherent improbability. A’s claims were ‘so
implausible that a reasonable jury must have had a reasonable doubt’. According to
the appeal submission:

[A] claimed in the first incident that Pell had engaged in visually
unambiguous sexual acts, immediately after a solemn Mass, in a room that he
must have expected those involved in the ceremony to enter as those acts
were occurring, having left open a door to a well-traversed corridor, without
making any suggestions of secrecy despite the considerable noise that [A]
claimed he and [B] made during the alleged abuse, and in spite of private
lockable rooms being available to Pell only a short distance away. And in the
second incident, [A] claimed that 6 foot 4 inches Pell, fully robed, pushed his
way, somehow, through a procession and then violently sexually assaulted
[A], completely unperturbed by having a corridor of choristers as eye
witnesses to his sexual offending.

63 Thirdly — and this was the contention most prominently advanced both at
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trial and on appeal — it was factually impossible for the offending to have occurred

as alleged. According to the appeal submission:

No matter what view was taken of [A] as a witness, it was simply not open to
the jury to accept his word beyond reasonable doubt. That is so because: (i)
the combined evidence of the witnesses, with the sole exception of [A], if accepted,
showed that the offending was impossible; and (ii) there was no rational reason to
reject this evidence.5

Before the jury and again in this Court, each of these contentions was
supported by detailed reference to the evidence given by A and by the opportunity
witnesses. In ptll of this judgment, we review that evidence and the competing
appeal submissions. Before doing so, it is appropriate that we express our general
conclusions on the effect of the evidence. Although the contentions of falsity,

improbability and impossibility were all directed at undermining A’s credibility and

reliability, it is convenient to deal with each contention separately.

The story was false

The defence in a criminal trial bears no onus at all. As a matter of forensic
reality, however, a defendant faced with accusations from an apparently credible
complainant will usually look to put before the jury reasons why the complainant’s
account should be doubted. Identification of a motive to lie may suggest such a

reason. As the High Court said in Palmer v The Queen (" Palmer’):

Cross-examination is permissible and evidence is admissible to establish that
a complainant has a motive to make and persist in false allegations.>

In the same case, McHugh ] said:5>

When a serious allegation is made against a person, one of the first inquiries
most persons make in testing the truth of the allegation is to ask whether the
person making the allegation has any motive for fabricating it. Any facts that
suggest a motive are regarded as throwing light on the probability of the
allegation being untrue.

Pell v The Queen 21

5 Emphasis added.
54 (1998) 193 CLR 1, 6 (Brennan CJ, Gaudron and Gummow J]).

55 Tbid 24-5 [58].
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In our experience, it is common in sexual assault trials for it to be put to the
complainant in cross-examination that they had a reason to invent the allegations.>®
For example, where the alleged perpetrator was at the relevant time in a relationship
with the complainant’s mother, it may be suggested by the defence that the

complainant fabricated the allegations in order to break up the relationship.5”

These realities are anticipated in the Evidence Act 2008 (‘Evidence Act’), which
makes admissible (as an exception to the credibility rule) evidence which ‘tends to
prove that the witness ... is biased or has a motive for being untruthful’.5¥ Provision
is also made for the introduction of evidence of a prior consistent statement, if it is
suggested that ‘evidence given by the witness has been fabricated or re-constructed

(whether deliberately or otherwise)’.>°

As mentioned earlier, the contention of falsity advanced two alternative
hypotheses. The first was that A was a cunning and calculating liar, who had
realised after being cross-examined at the committal that he had gaps to fill in his
story and who then set about inventing additional pieces of evidence to fill those
gaps. As was properly conceded by senior counsel for Cardinal Pell in this Court,

this was a contention of deliberate and purposeful fabrication.

The second, and rather different, line of attack was that A’s account was all a
fantasy, a product of his imagination. For example, defence counsel suggested to A
that his account of the second incident was “the product of fantasy. Total fantasy’. In
final address, counsel submitted that A’s evidence was ‘a product of fantasy which
he might have come to believe after so many years because people who fantasise

sometimes come to believe their fantasies’.

Pell v The Queen 22

56 See, eg, TP (a pseudonym) v The Queen [2012] VSCA 166, [28]-[30] (Warren CJ, Redlich and
Hansen JJA); Woods (a pseudonym) v The Queen [2014] VSCA 233, [24] (Hansen JA).

57 See, eg, FG (a pseudonym) v The Queen [2012] VSCA 84, [14] (Bongiorno JA); Mathis (a
pseudonym) v The Queen [2014] VSCA 118, [5] (Maxwell AC]J).

58 Evidence Act s 106(2)(a).

59 Tbid s 108(3)(b).
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‘Imagined’ is quite different from ‘invented’, as counsel for Cardinal Pell
accepted in this Court. The defence were, of course, entitled to advance fabrication
and fantasy as alternative hypotheses. But what the hallmarks of fantasy might be
was never explained to the jury, or to this Court. Nor was any motive identified

which might have explained what were said to be A’s deliberate fabrications.

As we have emphasised — and as the judge correctly instructed the jury —
there was no obligation on the defence to suggest such a motive. But, in the absence
of any such suggestion, the jury were left with the bald assertion of fabrication. As
the High Court said in Palmer, proof of a motive to lie weakens a complainant’s
credibility.®® Here, the absence of any defence hypothesis about why A might have
invented these allegations meant that his credibility was not damaged on that

account.

In advancing the fabrication hypothesis, senior counsel for Cardinal Pell
repeatedly put to A in cross-examination at trial that he had realised, after being
cross-examined at committal, that there were difficulties in his story which he would
have to fix up. It was for this reason, counsel suggested, that A had ‘concocted” or
‘invented” new pieces of evidence. We examine a number of these alleged

concoctions below .61

It is sufficient for present purposes to say that we saw nothing in A’s answers
under cross-examination to suggest that he had been caught out or had tripped
himself up. And, where his responses involved any alteration of — or addition to —
what he had said previously, the changes seemed to us to be typical of what occurs
when a person is questioned on successive occasions, by different people, about

events from the distant past.

Recollection can be revived by all sorts of stimuli, the most obvious being

repeated requests by different people to recall particular events. A had provided

Pell v The Queen 23
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61 See [197]-[231] below.
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two statements to police and, by the time of this trial, had been cross-examined at
length twice, first at the committal and again at the first trial. His recollection was
also prompted by a ‘walkthrough’ at the Cathedral, undertaken in 2016 for the
purpose of showing police where the incidents had taken place.6? This was the first
time A had been back in the Cathedral since he was 13 years old and — as he told the

jury — it made him realise that a plan he had drawn earlier for police was mistaken.

75 The jury were well equipped to decide whether any changes in A’s account
over time revealed him to be dishonest or, alternatively, unreliable. As McHugh ]

said in M:

It is the everyday experience of the courts that honest witnesses are
frequently in error about the details of events. The more accounts that they
are asked to give the greater is the chance that there will be discrepancies
about details and even inconsistencies in the various accounts. Of course, it is
legitimate to test the honesty or accuracy of a witness’s evidence by analysing
the discrepancies and inconsistencies in his or her accounts of an incident. In
a case where accuracy of recollection is vital — such as the account of a
conversation in a fraud case or the description of a person where identity is
the issue — discrepancies and inconsistencies in the witness’s account may
make it impossible to accept that person’s evidence, no matter how honest he
or she appears to be. But in other cases, discrepancies and inconsistencies
may be of far less importance if the honesty of the witness, as opposed to the
accuracy of the detail, is the crucial issue. If a jury thinks that the demeanour
of the witness or the probability of occurrence of the witness’s general
account is persuasive, they may reasonably think that discrepancies or even
inconsistencies concerning details are of little moment.®

76 In his charge, the judge noted the defence argument that changes and
inconsistencies in A’s evidence undermined his credibility. He directed the jury that
they needed to decide for themselves whether such inconsistencies were important
to their assessment of his credibility. To assist their consideration, his Honour gave
the jury a direction in the form provided for by s 54D(2)(c) of the Jury Directions Act

2015 (‘JDA"), as follows:

When you are assessing the evidence, also bear in mind that experience
shows the following. One, people may not remember all the details of a
sexual offence or may not describe a sexual offence in the same way each

62 A video recording of the walkthrough was before the jury, and we have viewed it ourselves.
63 (1994) 181 CLR 487, 534.
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time. Two, trauma may affect different people differently, including by
affecting how they recall events. Three, it is common for there to be
differences in accounts of a sexual offence. For example, people may describe
a sexual offence differently at different times to different people or in
different contexts. And finally, both truthful and untruthful accounts of a
sexual offence may contain differences.

A further indication of A’s credibility, in our view, was his admitted
uncertainty about a number of matters which, if the story had been invented or was

an entrenched fantasy, he might have been expected to describe with confidence.

Striking examples of this were:

. his uncertainty about whether Cardinal Pell closed the door in

the first incident;

. his lack of recall as to whether he had screamed or called out

during the first incident; and

. his uncertainty about which hand Cardinal Pell had used in the

second incident.

In testing the fabrication hypothesis, it is relevant that there were features of
A’s account which — had he been fabricating — he might have been expected to
construct differently. For example, it might be thought surprising that — on A’s
account — Cardinal Pell did not close the door after entering the Priests” Sacristy.
But, as already noted, A said he could not recall whether it was closed or not. He
thought it was not “wide open’. In our view, the jury could properly reason that a
person fabricating a story would have been more likely to say that the door was
closed, precisely in order to remove the potential difficulty of explaining how it was

that noises made inside were not heard outside.

To similar effect was A’s evidence that Cardinal Pell had not ordered the boys
to keep quiet about the first incident. This might also be thought to be somewhat
surprising. A juror might well have assumed that, if such conduct had occurred, the
perpetrator would have been likely to threaten the victims into silence. In final
address, senior counsel for Cardinal Pell submitted that, if it were a true story,

Cardinal Pell would have taken the boys to his office and locked the door.
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Afterwards, it was submitted, he would have said to them, ‘Don’t you dare tell

anyone else because God will strike you dead’.

In our view, the jury were also entitled to view this aspect of A’s account as
supportive, rather than destructive, of his credibility. The fact that his account of the
incident did not include the making of any such threat tended against the contention

that he had made it up.

The failure to complain

Defence counsel cross-examined A at length about his failure to say anything
to anyone about the alleged assaults until many years later. It was put to A — as it
was later put to the jury — that his silence was “proof that it didn’t happen’. Counsel
laid particular emphasis on the fact that A had never spoken to B about either
incident. The submission to the jury was that “if what happened really happened

they would have discussed it.”

In cross-examination, defence counsel put to A that:

It would have been inevitable that one or other of you would've asked the
other the next day, or even during the next week, “Have you told anyone?’ or,
‘What are we going to do about it, if anything?’.

And again:

if it happened, either you or [B] would have asked each other, “What are we
going to do?’, wouldn’t you?

A responded as follows:

No, I think you're assuming so much about us. I think you're assuming that
we were um across, across timelines and historical dates and also across the
gravity of such an incident. We were — we were young kids. We were just
trying to get by and we had no, no — we didn’t want to rock any boats. It's
the last thing we wanted to do. ... We were nursing, we were carrying
forward a lot of hopes and dreams of our working-class families and it meant
so much to us to maintain and preserve what we had and the fact that that
happened and, and didn’t happen so quickly, it started and finished such a
quick, quick amount of time and that we went back resuming life and not
much really infiltrated us after that. So we continued trying to live our lives
as we were before. ... I mean, how is that unreasonable? How is that
unreasonable to try and, and explain that to you? How can you think that we
were so pragmatic and tactical about everything that we would be discussing
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the nature of — of going forward or — why would I ask [B] why his mother,
ah, was or wasn’t informed when I didn’t even want to think about it myself?

As counsel continued to press him, A gave extended explanations for his long
silence. His answers combined two different themes. The first was that what had
occurred was something he could not comprehend. ‘We couldn’t fathom what had
happened to us’. It was so completely out of his ordinary experience, and so
terrifying, he said, that:

part of the way I dealt with it was not to speak to anyone about it and to
completely push it into the darkest corners and recesses of my brain.

A said at one point:

it was completely an anomaly ... out of stream ... Completely against the
grain of how we were living our lives ... it came into our lives and it exited
just as quickly.

The second theme was that he was anxious to do nothing to jeopardise his
future at the school, on which the hopes of many in his family rested. A was asked
whether it had occurred to him that he should warn B, after the second incident, that
there might be ‘a continuing interest in him’. A said it had not and, when asked to
explain, he said:

Because the incidents were isolated, where they were compartmentalised
and they were pushed away from my normality. They were absolutely
isolated and ripped out of my mainframe which was - which was heading
towards trying to be a young academic, you know, kid in a rich school
trying to survive and trying to get through and trying to impress everyone
in my family and trying to — to do something that — that I had the — I
hadn’t done before, you know. That meant a lot to me. That meant a lot to
me. And the fact that — that that was jeopardised, and the fact that - and it
didn’t matter what jeopardised it. I could not bear the fact of — of letting
down everyone in my life. Everyone around me had a lot of hopes in me
on attending St Kevin’s [College], you know. That was the main drive. I
wanted to stay at St Kevin's. I wanted to be a part of that school, and I
wanted to succeed in a rich private school environment. And I wanted that
with my own head.

These responses seemed to us to be entirely plausible, as did A’s statement
that he had ‘no intention of telling anyone, ever’. There was, in our view, no reason

to doubt that A was “horrified ... terrified” by what had happened and, hence, would

have buried the memories. Nor that he had done so because he knew he would
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never speak to anyone about it. It was perfectly understandable for him to have
ruled out that possibility. He had been caught red-handed, in a prohibited place,
and anything he said about Cardinal Pell was almost certain to be disbelieved. What

followed in his evidence also had the ring of truth:

It's something I've carried for the whole of my life, ... and coming forward
took a — took a courage much later on for me to be able to even think about
coming forward.

87 On the appeal, senior counsel for the Crown singled out these passages as
demonstrating why A should be viewed as ‘a very compelling witness’. Both the
content of the answers, and the manner of their delivery, were said to be such as to
eliminate any doubt a juror might have had. In our view, this was a very significant
part of A’s evidence. It was rightly characterised as compelling, both because of the
clarity and cogency of what A said and because of the complete absence of any
indication of contrivance in the emotion which A conveyed when giving his
answers.
88 As has often been recognised, delay in complaint is not uncommon in cases
such as this. In R v BJB,% for example, McClellan CJ said:
In circumstances where children are the alleged victims of sexually
inappropriate conduct, the combination of the disempowerment of the child
and the authority figure of the perpetrator, together with the social pressures
associated with causing conflict with the family or generally airing that which
is in the past often leads to the suppression of these complaints until an older
age.%
89 The legislature has addressed this issue by making provision for the jury to be
directed on delay in complaint where that issue is raised.®® In this case, the judge
gave such a direction, as follows:
Specifically, you have heard that the complainant, [A], made some police
statements I think in 2015, so that is nearly 20 years after the offending is
alleged to have occurred, and we sit here today, I think on my calculations,
some 22 years or thereabouts, but in any event, the point is, there is a

64 [2005] NSWCCA 441.

65 Ibid [37].

66 JDA s 52.
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significant delay, and I want to give you some legal directions which relate to
the issue of failure to complain and delay.

The first one is this. Experience shows that people react differently to sexual
offences and there is no typical, proper or normal response to a sexual
offence. Some people may complain immediately to the first person they see,
while others may not complain for some time, and other[s] may never make a
complaint. It is a common occurrence for there to be delay in making a
complaint about a sexual offence.

Conclusion

Directly addressing the falsity contention, senior counsel for the Crown

opened his oral submissions by asserting that A

was a very compelling witness. He was clearly not a liar. He was not a
fantasist. He was a witness of truth.

In our view, that submission should be upheld. The jury were entitled to reject the
falsity contention. (We have viewed A’s evidence twice — first, before we had
reviewed the other evidence and heard the arguments in the appeal and again
afterwards. As it happens, the jury took a similar course, asking shortly after they

commenced their deliberations to be provided with the recording of A’s evidence.)

Throughout his evidence, A came across as someone who was telling the
truth. He did not seek to embellish his evidence or tailor it in a manner favourable to
the prosecution. As might have been expected, there were some things which he
could remember and many things which he could not. And his explanations of why

that was so had the ring of truth.

For example, during cross-examination A said that his memory of Archbishop
Little (Cardinal Pell’s predecessor) was not ‘indelibly marked” in his brain. The
following exchange then took place:

Q:  But you'd seen [Archbishop Little] for — since you've joined the choir
for at least half a year at Masses; hadn’t you?

A:  Yes, butl — as a 12-year-old boy, wasn’t looking at the facial features of,
of the priests. I was looking at the sheet music, I was trying to adhere to
a pretty strict regime as a choirboy. I was trying to do my best job as a
choirboy and I knew then that just like any other pursuit like this, it was
ah, quite serious on my performance and my behaviour mattered a lot.
So, I was more focused on being um, doing the right thing as a choirboy
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than looking at how individuals looked up on the altar. The only time I
really had time to focus was when a horrible incident happened to me and 1, I
can remember quite a bit about that.o?

Nothing about A’s account of the events suggested that it was either
fabricated or a product of his imagination. As we have already indicated, there were
features of his account, and of the way his testimony unfolded, which strongly
indicated that it was neither of those things. Of course, A’s evidence could not be
considered in isolation. Any first impression of him had to be constantly, and
critically, re-evaluated in the light of the opportunity evidence.®® Having done that
for ourselves, we were not prompted at any stage to doubt the veracity of his

evidence.

The impression we gained from reading the transcript of A’s cross-
examination reinforced the impression we had gained from watching the recording
of him giving evidence. Nothing about his answers under cross-examination
suggested that he was concocting, or embellishing, or ‘fantasising’. On the contrary,
both the content of what he said and the way in which he said it — including the

language he used®® — appeared to us to be entirely authentic.

There was, of course, no witness who could independently verify any aspect
of A’s account of the alleged assaults. (We deal with B’s denial later in these
reasons.) But, as the Crown submitted on the appeal, the credibility of his account
was considerably enhanced by the accuracy of his description of the Priests” Sacristy.
He was able to describe in some detail the layout and furnishing of the alcove where
he and B were discovered by Cardinal Pell. As the Crown pointed out, A correctly

placed the wine area in the alcove, not where it is currently located.

More striking still was the fact that A identified the Priests’ Sacristy as the

setting. At all other times, Cardinal Pell would have robed — and disrobed — in the
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Archbishop’s Sacristy. Exceptionally, however, that Sacristy was temporarily
unavailable at the end of 1996 because its furniture was under repair. As a result,
Cardinal Pell was — at the time of the alleged offending — having to use the Priests’

Sacristy to disrobe after Mass.

In our view, the jury were entitled to view these ‘undisputed facts’ as
independent confirmation of A’s account of having been in the Priests” Sacristy in
that period. There was nothing to suggest that his knowledge of those matters could
have been obtained otherwise. A’s evidence was that he had never been in the
Priests” Sacristy before. In cross-examination, he accepted, but did not recall, that he
had been taken on a tour of the Cathedral when he first joined the choir. He said
that he had no recollection of being shown the sacrisities on such a tour, but did not
dispute it. The jury were entitled, in our view, to discount the possibility that going
on such a tour would have explained A’s detailed knowledge — and recollection 20

years later — of the interior of that particular room.

Improbability

The defence also relied on arguments from improbability (or implausibility).
These were powerful arguments. It was, of course, highly improbable that someone
in Cardinal Pell’s position would have acted in the way alleged, in the circumstances
in which he was alleged to have done so. In the first incident, there was a high risk
of discovery; there was a high risk that one or other of the boys would cry out; and
there was a high risk that they would report him. The risk to his reputation, and
position, was enormous. The second incident, though much briefer, was even more

brazen.

Early in his final address, defence counsel posed the question to the jury:
‘Who in their right mind would take the risk of doing what [A] says happened?” As
senior counsel for the Crown correctly pointed out, however, an individual may take
a risk — even a high one — in circumstances where most other people would not.

As is illustrated by the proven allegations of repeat offending by a high-profile
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defendant in Hughes v The Queen, sexual offending does sometimes take place in

circumstances carrying a high risk of detection.”®

100 Another illustration is provided by Rapson v The Queen (‘Rapson’).”! In that
case, a priest who served as a teacher and later as vice-principal at a boys” secondary
school was convicted of five charges of rape and eight charges of indecent assault
against boys in his charge.”? As recorded in the sentencing judge’s reasons,”® one of
the indecent assaults occurred in the presence of two other priests and three other
boys; two others were committed in the school infirmary in the presence of several
other boys; and all five rapes were committed in the office which the offender
occupied as vice-principal. On three of those occasions, he had gone to the victim’s
dormitory late at night and ordered him to come to the office. This Court
commented as follows:
Plainly enough, he could have chosen a variety of other locations for this
purpose, including locations away from school premises. What is distinctive
about his use of the office, apart from anything else, is that it was a location
which embodied, and reinforced, his authority over the boys at the school.?
101 In WEA v The Queen (‘WEA’),” this Court rejected an interlocutory appeal by a
person charged with — and subsequently convicted of’”® — numerous sexual
offences committed against five female members of his extended family while they
were children. The Court agreed with the trial judge that the (alleged) offending
was committed ‘in circumstances of remarkable brazenness’.”” And, in Morris v The
70 (2017) 344 ALR 187, 203-4 [57]-[60] (Kiefel CJ, Bell, Keane and Edelman JJ). See also R v Bauer
(a pseudonym) (2018) 359 ALR 359, 378-9 [59] (Kiefel CJ, Bell, Gageler, Keane, Nettle, Gordon
and Edelman JJ); Papazoglou v The Queen (2014) 45 VR 457, 461 [14] (Maxwell P).

71 (2014) 45 VR 103.

72 On a Crown concession, the Court of Appeal allowed his appeal against conviction and
ordered a retrial. On the retrial, Rapson was again convicted on all eight charges: DPP v
Rapson [2015] VCC 610.

73 DPP v Rapson [2015] VCC 610.

7 Rapson (2014) 45 VR 103, 114 [34] (Maxwell P, Nettle and Beach JJA).

& Unreported, Court of Appeal, Whelan and Coghlan JJA, 22 February 2013, cited in Rapson
(2014) 45 VR 103, 112-113 [27]-[29].

76 DPP v Wright [2013] VCC 1300.

7 WEA (Unreported, Court of Appeal, Whelan and Coghlan JJA, 22 February 2013), [28].
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Queen,”® a schoolteacher pleaded guilty to representative charges of indecent assault
against six pupils in his charge. In a number of instances, the teacher had touched
the pupil’s genitals while the pupil was sitting on the teacher’s knee reading a book

in front of the class.”

It is unnecessary for present purposes to speculate as to why a person might
pursue sexual gratification in such obviously risky circumstances. Each case must, of
course, be determined on its own facts. What these other cases do show, however, is
that the existence of a high level of risk did not, in and of itself, oblige the jury to

have a reasonable doubt that the alleged offending took place.

As with the issue of A’s silence after the offending, evaluating these questions
of improbability involved the making of judgments about human behaviour. The
jury were well placed to make those judgments. They had the advantage not only of
a far wider range of life experience than that of three judges but of being able to
draw on each other’s experiences in the course of their deliberations. These
questions were, moreover, at the heart of this trial. They were clearly, and
repeatedly, raised with the jury during the defence closing and again in the judge’s

charge.

More than once, senior counsel for the Crown in this Court submitted that
questions of this kind were ‘quintessentially” matters for the jury. This is a notion
which is often invoked in appellate consideration of the unreasonableness ground.&
It implies that there are certain issues which juries, because of their character and
composition, are peculiarly well placed to decide. The further implication is that, on
such issues, the appeal court should somehow defer to the decision which the jury,

by inference from their verdict, must have made.
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78 Morris v The Queen [2016] VSCA 331.

7 Ibid [13]-[18] (Maxwell P and Cavanough AJA).

80 In Gillard v The Queen (2003) 219 CLR 1, for example, Gleeson CJ and Callinan J said that the
assessment of the accused was ‘quintessentially a jury question”: at 15 [29]. In R v Henderson
(2009) 22 VR 662, Warren CJ (with whom Vincent and Dodds-Streeton JJA agreed) said that
whether the disputed evidence of prosecution witnesses was to be accepted ‘was
quintessentially for the jury to decide”: at 697 [174].
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105 Thus, at one point, senior counsel for the Crown invited the Court to ‘pay due
deference to this jury verdict’. When pressed as to what this meant, counsel
explained that he was endeavouring to give content to the High Court’s affirmation
of the role of the jury as ‘the constitutional tribunal of fact.”8! He also submitted that
the importance of the jury system rested on the fact that ‘[t]welve people from ... all
walks of life can bring their common understanding of life together’.

106 In our view, there is no room for any notion of deference on an appeal such as
this. As explained earlier, the task for each member of the appeal court in
considering the unreasonableness ground is to review the whole of the evidence and
decide whether the guilty verdict was reasonably open on the evidence. For that
purpose, each appeal judge makes an individual evaluation of the (im)probabilities
of human behaviour when such questions arise. And we have each done that in the
course of considering the evidence in the present case.

107 At the same time, in deciding whether the factual conclusions expressed in the
verdict were reasonably open to the jury, we bear in mind that

the purpose and the genius of the jury system is that it allows for the ordinary
experiences of ordinary people to be brought to bear in the determination of
factual matters. It is fundamental to that purpose that the jury be allowed to
determine, by inference from its collective experience of ordinary affairs,
whether and, in the case of conflict, what evidence is truthful.82
And, further:

Experience suggests that juries, properly instructed on the law (as they were
in this case), are usually well able to evaluate conflicts and imperfections of
evidence 83

108 These considerations inform the appellate court’s view of what the High
Court in Baden-Clay called ‘the boundaries of reasonableness within which the jury’s
function is to be informed’.3* It follows that, in deciding whether a guilty verdict
81 As to which, see Knight v The Queen (1992) 175 CLR 495, 511.

82 Doney v The Queen (1990) 171 CLR 207, 214 (Deane, Dawson, Toohey, Gaudron and
McHugh JJ).
8 MFA (2002) 213 CLR 606, 634 [96] (McHugh, Gummow and Kirby J]).
84 (2016) 258 CLR 308, 329 [65].
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was reasonably open, an appeal court should be slow to substitute its own

judgments about human behaviour for those made by a jury.

As evidenced by their verdict, this jury rejected the improbability arguments.
In our view, it was reasonably open to them to do so. We are not persuaded that
there was anything about A’s account of the incidents which was so inherently

improbable as to require the jury to entertain a doubt.

As to the first incident, we can readily picture two choirboys deciding on the
spur of the moment to break away from the procession once the pressure of public
performance at Mass was released, and venturing into an area which was strictly out
of bounds. The ‘swigging’ of the altar wine seems to us to be just the kind of thing

which might occur in an adolescent escapade.

Nor — leaving aside the obvious risks to Cardinal Pell to which we have
already referred — were the circumstances in which he came upon A and B such as
to render the allegations of sexual offending so improbable that the jury must have
had a doubt about them. On the contrary, the circumstances rendered the boys
acutely vulnerable and powerless — and palpably so. They had been discovered, by
the most powerful person in the Cathedral hierarchy, in the course of committing

acts of serious disobedience and gross disrespect.

Nor do we regard the description of the second incident as being so
improbable as to entail a reasonable doubt. As discussed more fully below, a fleeting
physical encounter of the kind described by A can be readily imagined. Jurors
would know from common experience that confined spaces facilitate furtive sexual
touching, even when others are in the same space. And the act of squeezing the
genitals is, itself, unremarkable as a form of sexual assault.8> On A’s account, this
was opportunistic offending, just as the first incident had been. On this occasion,
however, it was over almost immediately. As he said in evidence-in-chief: ‘Just a

quick, he squeezed and kept walking. It was something that was a complete and
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utter whirlwind. It was very quick.’

What does seem improbable to us — referring again to the defence’s
‘fabrication” hypothesis — is that A would have thought to invent a second incident
if his true purpose was to advance false allegations against Cardinal Pell. Having to
construct and maintain a story of a second and subsequent assault could only have
made the undertaking much more difficult and risky for A, markedly increasing the

likelihood that the whole story would unravel when tested.

Impossibility

As mentioned earlier, it was a central part of the defence case at trial that A’s
account could not be accepted because what he purported to describe was simply
impossible. It could not have occurred. Thus, early in his cross-examination, senior
counsel for Cardinal Pell put to A that his account was “in fact, impossible. Your

account of the incidents couldn’t have happened.’

In final address, senior counsel for Cardinal Pell told the jury:

What we say is, it's not true because it's impossible basically. There was
simply no opportunity.

Counsel submitted to the jury that the timing as described by A was ‘impossible’
and that his description of the second incident made it ‘completely impossible” for

Cardinal Pell to have confronted A as alleged.

The written case for the appeal was just as emphatic, stating:

There was a significant body of evidence demonstrating, in various ways, that
the offending not only did not occur but could not have occurred.

When, however, the implications of this submission were being explored in
argument, senior counsel for Cardinal Pell submitted that it had not been necessary
for the defence to couch its case at trial in the language of impossibility, as the
defence bore no onus to make good any factual contention. Accordingly, before we
examine the impossibility contentions on their merits, it is necessary to review the

course of the trial to see how the defence position on impossibility was articulated
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before the jury.

117 Early in his opening address, senior counsel for Cardinal Pell told the jury

that:

there will be evidence before you from a number of people about the
liturgical and ecclesiastical nature of a Sunday solemn Mass, and it will be
significant to understand it in this case, because the principal issue will be is it
practically possible, was it practically possible or probable that George Pell, the man
George Pell was alone with two young choristers, 13 year olds, and that he was
alone within the ten minutes or so from the conclusion of the solemn mass on
one of the two Sundays.

118 The “principal issue’ in the trial, as here defined by defence counsel, would be
whether there had been the opportunity for Cardinal Pell to commit the offences. A
little later, counsel submitted that the evidence from the other witnesses would show
that it was impossible for the offending to have occurred, such that the jury would

not be able to accept A’s account:

What is on trial is [A’s] evidence and the extent to which you are prepared to
accept it beyond reasonable doubt because it is his evidence, and it is his
evidence not supported by other evidence, and that is something of
considerable significance. It is not supported by other evidence in this case.
Indeed, the other evidence in this case goes the other way and tends to
demonstrate that what he says is, in some instances, you might think, practically
impossible, and in other instances highly improbable, and when you compound the
sort of practical impossibilities with the improbabilities, one of you is a
mathematician, you compound all those things, you come to the conclusion that you
cannot accept what [A] says is true. So that’s the issue.8”

119 And further:

We raise 12 issues. Some of them are issues of what we say are practical
impossibility in the circumstances, some issues that we say are highly improbable.
The first one that we say is practically impossible in the context of evidence
that you will hear, and I won’t go into it obviously because this is not my
function at this stage. My function at this stage is to outline to you where the
areas of contentions are and what the issues are.

We say it is not practically possible that Archbishop Pell was robed in
archbishop’s robes and alone immediately after Sunday solemn Mass and
following the time thereafter when procession takes place after the event. It is
practically impossible because the allegation that is made against him is that he

86 Emphasis added.
87 Emphasis added.
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enters the sacristy, the Priests” Sacristy, from the front door. It’s not like he’s
been in the archbishop’s sacristy and has gone through the other way.

And the evidence will be that others disrobed in the Priests” Sacristy, people
who are described as concelebrants, other priests visiting, other dignitaries,
the Dean of the cathedral for most occasions. That will be an issue that's to be
considered, whether he is ever left alone when robed, because if he is not you would
not be able to find that [A’s] story is true. It’s just not possible. That’s why we say
it’s practically an impossibility ...

Provisionally one looks at crime, for those of you who watch television, by
saying let’s look at opportunity, let’s look at means, let’s look at motive, and
the point of contention between the Crown and us is first of all there was no
opportunity on the evidence as you will hear. That’s the issue, was there an
opportunity, on the evidence, a credible opportunity.s8

120 Following the close of evidence, the prosecutor addressed the jury first. At
the outset, he identified the ‘critical issue” as being whether the jury accepted beyond

reasonable doubt that what A said occurred “actually did occur’. He continued:

The Crown also presents, as it’s obliged to do, a number of people who say,
‘Well, hang on, I recall circumstances that perhaps aren’t conducive to those
things happening’, and so that means that you need to look at those
circumstances to see if that really means that it could not have happened, or whether
it simply means there was less opportunity for it to happen, but nevertheless did
happen, and there’s a difference between no opportunity and a reduced
opportunity.8?

121 The prosecutor submitted that the evidence did not remove the opportunity
for the offending to have occurred. On the contrary, he said, it was ‘entirely
possible” that Cardinal Pell had been in the Priests” Sacristy, robed but alone, on the

occasion of the first incident. He reminded the jury of defence counsel’s opening

address and of the reliance placed on ‘improbabilities and impossibilities’:

By using that expression [‘it’s entirely possible’] I'm not seeking for one
moment to reverse the onus of proof or to lower the standard of proof. I'm
simply using that wording in that way because you’ll recall that at the outset, during
my learned friend’s opening response or opening address, he put forward a number of
improbabilities and impossibilities to [A]’s account, and so that’s why I'm wording it
in that way, because what the Crown says is that upon proper scrutiny of the

88 Emphasis added.
89 Emphasis added.
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evidence, [A]’s account [with]stands those suggested improbabilities or impossibilities
because the evidence suggests that on that day, the day of the first incident,
whether it be 15 December or 22 December 1996, or whatever day in the
second half of 1996 it occurred. The evidence suggests that [A] and [B] did
detach from the procession group. The evidence suggests that Archbishop
Pell had left the front steps, that he had returned to his sacristy in a period
shortly after [A] and [B] had entered it, and he had entered that sacristy alone
and unaccompanied and remained so for a period of time, and those things
can be satisfied beyond reasonable doubt.

In their final address, counsel for Cardinal Pell provided the jury with a set of
slides as an aid to understanding. The slides contained a number of categorical
statements about impossibility, each accompanied by references to the evidence. The

slides variously stated:

° ‘The timing of [A’s] story is impossible.’

° ‘It is not possible Pell was in the Sacristies only a few minutes after the
end of Mass.’

° ‘It is not possible that Pell was robed and alone after Mass.’

° ‘It is not possible that two choirboys could be raped in the Priests’

Sacristy after Mass by Pell undetected.’

In developing his submissions by reference to these slides, defence counsel

repeatedly used the words ‘impossible” and ‘not possible’.

In his charge to the jury, the judge summarised the respective cases. The
prosecution’s case, his Honour said, was that A’s account should be accepted

because he was a “powerful and persuasive” witness. His Honour continued:

In terms of whether his account fits with the other evidence in the case [the
prosecutor] says that it does, it is not inconsistent with the other evidence in
the case, and the prosecution contend that it is entirely possible that the
opportunity arose for this offending to have occurred in the manner alleged
by [A]. Generally it was submitted to you that one needs to distinguish
between practices and protocols developed over time as described by many
witnesses from what actually occurred on the specific occasions, particularly
the occasion of the first incident.

The defence case, his Honour said, was that A’s allegations were ‘false, they

are fanciful and are the product of fantasy’. He continued:

[Defence counsel] argued that for the offending to have occurred there needs
to have been the opportunity and the evidence just does not support that there was
a real or substantial possibility of this offending having occurred.

39
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The defence case is also that it is simply not possible for Cardinal Pell to be in
the sacristies when the evidence is that he was on the front steps greeting
parishioners for at least 10 minutes immediately after Mass.

The defence argues that it was just not possible for Cardinal Pell to be left

alone for more than a moment while robed after mass, relying upon the
traditions of the church and Portelli’s role as master of ceremonies.?

Finally, his Honour directed the jury that, in deciding whether A’s account

was ‘true beyond reasonable doubt’, they must consider all of the evidence including

the evidence from the church witnesses. He said:

Broadly the evidence from the church witnesses about processes, practices

and recollections as to how things worked goes to the issue as to whether there

was a realistic opportunity for this offending to have taken place 9

It seems clear that the defence had made a considered forensic decision to
express this part of the defence case in the language of impossibility. This was
evident from the start, in defence counsel’s opening address. The purpose of the

impossibility contention was quite simple, as counsel told the jury in that address. It

was to create a doubt in the jury’s mind about whether A’s account could be true.

There were, moreover, perfectly sound forensic reasons for using the
language of impossibility. The defence wanted to persuade the jury that, even if they
rejected the contentions of fabrication and fantasy, and even if they rejected the
arguments about improbable brazenness, they should nevertheless accept that the
events simply could have not happened as A alleged. To make good that argument
it was necessary to persuade the jury that the opportunity evidence established
‘practical’ impossibility, thereby excluding any realistic opportunity for the
offending to occur. That is doubtless why defence counsel in cross-examination
pressed for answers to the effect that a particular practice was not merely ‘common’

but ‘invariable’.
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The defence having advanced these impossibility contentions, it was for the
prosecution to rebut them by showing that — on the evidence — the offending was
not impossible and that there had been a realistic opportunity for it to occur. The
prosecution’s case was that the opportunity evidence left open the realistic
possibility that Cardinal Pell was where he was alleged to have been on the

particular occasions. The jury did not, therefore, have to have a doubt in that regard.

As this analysis demonstrates, the prosecution bore the burden throughout
the trial of proving beyond reasonable doubt that there was a realistic opportunity
for the offending to take place. The prosecution also bore the burden of proving
beyond reasonable doubt that the particular sexual acts took place. Thus at all stages
of the trial the burden of proof rested with the prosecution. Similarly in this appeal,
while the defence maintained its submissions based on ‘impossibility’, we have
borne steadily in mind that there was and is no onus whatsoever upon Cardinal Pell

to prove impossibility.

If any of the evidence showed impossibility, in one respect or another, then
the jury must have had a doubt. If, for example, the evidence had shown that the
Priests’ Sacristy was not in use at the relevant time, or that the south transept doors
had for some time been permanently closed, then A’s account must necessarily have
foundered on those ‘undisputed facts’. The unreasonableness ground must

necessarily have succeeded.

In the next section, we consider the evidence relied on by the applicant to
establish the impossibility contentions as articulated in the written case. It is, of
course, of the very nature of an impossibility argument that it seeks to show with
sufficient certainty that the events could not have happened as alleged. That was the
forensic purpose which the defence sought to achieve. When in that context we
speak of uncertainty, we are not referring to uncertainty about A’s evidence. Rather,
we seek to explain why the opportunity evidence fell short of establishing the

certainty which the argument of impossibility asserted.
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That opportunity would be a key issue in the trial was made clear in the
judge’s pre-trial ruling under s 38 of the Evidence Act®? with respect to some of the

opportunity witnesses. As the judge said in that ruling:

I have decided to grant the prosecution leave to cross-examine the witnesses

on a relatively narrow basis namely to test and challenge any categorical and

unqualified assertions which effectively allow for no realistic possibility of

departure from a practice, which in turn excludes any possibility of
opportunity for the offending conduct to have taken place.

This formulation of the issue is illustrated by his Honour’s consideration of
the evidence of Potter and Portelli on the question of whether wine might have been
left out in the Priests’” Sacristy, so as to allow the ‘realistic possibility’ that it was
discovered (and drunk) by A and B, as A claimed. On this point, his Honour
concluded, Potter’s evidence was unfavourable because:

It seems perfectly clear to me that Potter allows for no such possibility.

His Honour reached a different conclusion in relation to Portelli, however. Referring

to Portelli’s statement that ‘[tjo my recollection everything used was always left

locked away’, his Honour said:

Portelli is also allowing for a degree of uncertainty in his memory. Portelli’s
evidence does not exclude, or purport to exclude, the realistic possibility of

the wine having been left out as described by the complainant.

The issue as joined between the parties at trial was that which the judge

correctly defined, that is, whether the opportunity evidence ‘excluded any possibility

of opportunity for the offending conduct to have taken place.”
The appeal contentions

That the advancing of the ‘“impossibility’ contentions reflected a considered
forensic decision by the defence is confirmed by the fact that Cardinal Pell’s written
case for the appeal took exactly the same approach. As noted earlier, the principal

submission was that the jury must have had a doubt because all of the evidence
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92 So far as relevant, s 38 provides that a party who called a witness may, with the leave of the
court, question the witness, as though the party were cross-examining the witness, about
evidence given by the witness that is unfavourable to the party.
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(other than A’s) ‘showed that the offending was impossible’. There was, it was said,
a ‘body of unchallenged evidence of impossibility’. And the focus was, again, on the
absence of opportunity:

The evidence as a whole provided no opportunity for the offending described

by [A] to have occurred.

Echoing the language of the slides shown to the jury, most of the specific
factual propositions in the written case were expressed in the language of
impossibility. For example:

. ‘The timing of the alleged assaults was impossible’;

. ‘It was not possible for Pell to be alone in the sacristies only a

few minutes after the end of Mass’;

. ‘It was not possible for two robed sopranos to leave an external

procession without being noticed’;

o ‘It was not possible for [A] and [B] to be absent from the choir

room unnoticed’; and

. ‘The criminal acts attributed to Pell were physically impossible’.

As will appear, each factual proposition in the written case was accompanied
by a table setting out the evidence relied on in support. In oral argument, senior

counsel for Cardinal Pell explained that these tables were an attempt

to pull together the strands by which the activities, ritual, practice, customary,
traditional, and in some cases even after 22 years remembered, of the ...
cathedral staff, combined to render either literally impossible, or so unlikely it’s of
no realistic possibility, the notion of those three persons ... alone in that room
for five to six minutes, meaning undisturbed, nobody coming in ...%

(This was, of course, a reference to the first incident. The tables, which we address in

detail in pt II of these reasons, also dealt with the second incident.)

To illustrate the impossibility contention in relation to the first incident,

counsel referred to the evidence of Portelli as to Cardinal Pell’s practice of staying on
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the front steps of the Cathedral, at the west door, to greet parishioners after the
conclusion of Mass. (That evidence is examined in detail below.) Given that
evidence, counsel submitted, ‘the law of physics tells us that it is literally, logically

impossible for the offending to have occurred’.

Counsel then submitted that this was ‘in the nature of alibi evidence’. The

effect of alibi, counsel argued, was as follows:

It's normally not just raising the reasonable doubt. It simply renders
impossible the offending. If I was in New Zealand, I was not in Australia for
the offending alleged to have occurred in Australia.

Cardinal Pell’s location at the west door, it was said, ‘suffices entirely for alibi

purposes as would being across the Tasman’.

The concepts of alibi, impossibility and opportunity are, of course, closely
connected. In this trial, however, the defence evidently made a deliberate decision to
avoid using the word ‘alibi’. The word was not used in the defence closing, and
senior counsel for Cardinal Pell specifically asked the judge not to use it in his charge
to the jury. Instead, as we have said, the defence chose to use the language of
impossibility in order to raise a doubt about whether there was a realistic
opportunity. As often occurs in cases like this, the defence argument was that the

evidence excluded the opportunity for the offending to occur.%

It was never submitted by the defence — nor conceded by the prosecution —
that an acquittal must follow if the opportunity evidence left open a ‘reasonable
possibility” that Cardinal Pell stayed on the steps at length after both Sunday Masses
in December 1996. Nor did the defence seek a direction from the judge to that effect.
We note that a direction in those terms is often sought — and given — when alibi is

raised as a defence.

Thus, in R v Kanaan (‘Kanaan’),’> the New South Wales Court of Criminal
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94 See, eg, Jones v The Queen (1997) 191 CLR 439, 449-50; Papazoglou v The Queen (2014) 45 VR
457, 492 [175]-[177], 500 [209] (Maxwell P); Thornton v The Queen [2017] NSWCCA 86, [87]-
[88], [101], [212]-[213] (Ward JA).
9% (2005) 64 NSWLR 527, 559 [135] (Hunt AJA, Buddin and Hoeben J]) (‘Kanaan’).
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Appeal said that the issue raised by alibi was ‘whether there is a reasonable
possibility that the accused was at Y, rather than X, at that time.” The Court

suggested that, in such a case, an appropriate direction to the jury would be:

The Crown must establish beyond reasonable doubt that the accused was at X
at the relevant time. The Crown cannot do so if there is any reasonable
possibility that he was at Y at that time, as asserted by the alibi evidence. The
Crown must therefore remove or eliminate any reasonable possibility that the
accused was at Y at the relevant time, and also persuade you, on the evidence
on which the Crown relies, that beyond reasonable doubt he was at X at that
time.%

Having read all of the opportunity evidence and watched some of it, we are
not persuaded that the evidence of any individual witness, or the evidence taken as a
whole, established impossibility in the sense contended for by the defence. (In pt II

of the reasons, we explain that conclusion by reference to the evidence relied on in

support of each of the individual impossibility contentions.)

The issue of Cardinal Pell’s robes is a good example. As already noted, the
contention on the appeal was (as it had been before the jury) that the acts alleged to
have been committed by Cardinal Pell in the first incident were ‘physically
impossible’. Reliance was placed on categorical statements by Portelli and by Potter
that it was not possible to pull the alb to the side while the cincture was tied at the

waist.%”

In response, senior counsel for the Crown invited the members of the Court to
try on the robes. They were an exhibit at the trial and, we were told, had been
available to the jury in the jury room during their deliberation. Counsel for Cardinal

Pell did not demur.
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9% Ibid. This is the form of the alibi direction set out in the NSW Criminal Trial Courts Bench
Book: Judicial Commission of NSW, Criminal Trial Courts Bench Book, [6-000]. We note that
there is no equivalent alibi direction in the Victorian Criminal Charge Book. See also R v
Merrett (2007) 14 VR 392, 396-7 [16]-[18] (Maxwell P).

97 As described in the evidence, an alb is an ankle-length tunic, containing two slits (one on each
side), to allow access to trouser pockets. A cincture is a rope which is tied around the waist
over the alb ‘like a belt’. The cincture is knotted several times to keep it in place. The cincture
is positioned above the slits in the alb.
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146 In final address, the prosecutor invited the jury to feel the weight of the alb
and “assess its manoeuvrability as a garment’. This gave the jury the opportunity,
counsel submitted, ‘to assess whether what [A] described as having occurred is
physically possible or impossible” Having taken advantage of that opportunity
ourselves, we consider that it was well open to the jury to reject the contention of
physical impossibility.”® The alb was neither so heavy nor so immoveable as the
evidence of Portelli and Potter had suggested. To our observation, it was well
capable of being manoeuvred — while the cincture was firmly tied at the waist — in

a way that might be described as being moved or pulled to one side or pulled apart.

147 We deal finally with a defence submission, advanced both at trial and on the
appeal, that the prosecution case rested on ‘mere possibility’. Thus, in final address,

senior counsel for the defence submitted:

The case for the prosecution is to be summed up in three little words, ‘it is
possible’. It is possible that what [A] says could have happened if, and only
if, et cetera, but it is possible. We say that is a theoretical possibility in the
face of the evidence that you've heard, and you do not establish a serious, or
indeed, for that matter, any criminal case by alleging that something is
possible in the face of evidence which renders it either impossible, or highly
improbable, or even just improbable.

148 On the appeal, senior counsel for Cardinal Pell characterised the prosecution

case, in relation to evidence of established Cathedral practice, as being to the

following effect:

It’s possible the practice wasn’t followed all the time. So the reasonable doubt
raised by the practice said to be invariable, apparently disappears.

This was said to be impermissible reasoning;:

That’s not how a jury could reasonably reason, particularly when no attempt
is made to chase, as we would put it, to find out anything that would cast
light on the probability, likelihood, of the practice being departed from in the
fashion necessary for the opportunity to be available on the dates in question.

149 With respect, this is a mischaracterisation both of the Crown case and of the

reasoning process which it was open to the jury to apply. The Crown case was not

%8 For another instance of inspection of clothing by an appeal court, in connection with a similar
ground, see R v Habib [2005] NSWCCA 223, [76] (Simpson ]) (‘Habib").
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based on mere possibility. As the judge instructed the jury, mere possibility ‘is
clearly not enough’. On the contrary, the prosecution argued that the account given
by A was so obviously truthful that the jury could be satisfied, beyond reasonable
doubt, that the events had occurred as he described them. A’s evidence was said to

provide a sure foundation for guilty verdicts.

As described earlier, the defence sought to undermine A’s credibility by
seeking to demonstrate that the events simply could not have occurred as he
described them. As junior counsel for the defence put to the judge, regarding the

animation sought to be relied on in final address, its purpose was:

to assist in showing that what Cardinal Pell said in his record of interview is
right. This is impossible. It could not have happened.

Ground 2, which concerns the animation, describes it as ‘a moving visual

representation of [the] impossibility argument’.

An argument of impossibility, if supported by the evidence, is effectively
unanswerable.”” As we have said, the onus of proof required the prosecution to
defeat that argument. It was both necessary and sufficient for that purpose to
persuade the jury that the events were not impossible and that there was a realistic

opportunity for the offending to occur.1%

The opportunity evidence

As noted earlier, the prosecution called evidence from a number of witnesses
as to processes and practices at the Cathedral at the relevant time. Before the trial
began, the prosecution sought an advance ruling under s 38 of the Evidence Act, for
leave to cross-examine a number of those witnesses on the basis that the evidence

which they would give would be unfavourable to the prosecution.

In his ruling, the judge summarised the basis of the prosecution application in

Pell v The Queen 47

9 See, eg, Starri v SA Police (1995) 80 A Crim R 197, 201-2 (Legoe AJ). See also Habib [2005]
NSWCCA 223, [68]-[69] (McLellan AJA), [77], [112] (Simpson ]).

10 See, eg, R v R, PA [2019] SASCFC 19, [133]-[138] (Parker J); Casey v The Queen [1995] WASC
77.
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asserted was ‘not realistically possible’, this would be ‘unfavourable’ evidence
within the meaning of s 38(1)(a) of the Evidence Act. Applying that test, his Honour
gave leave for several of the opportunity witnesses to be cross-examined with

respect to particular matters. In the event, there was very limited cross-examination

The prosecution says that a number of its own witnesses will give evidence to
the following effect:

. Certain practices existed at the time of the alleged offending;

o These practices — if followed — were inconsistent with the offending
having occurred;

o These practices were followed with such strictness that there was no
possibility, or no realistic possibility, that the offending occurred.

The prosecution confirmed that it did not seek to challenge the evidence of
the existence of these practices. Rather, the prosecution sought to test the
evidence with a view to showing that what the complainant contends says
happened was possible or realistically possible, by way of an exception to the
practice.

His Honour ruled that, if a witness gave evidence to the effect that what A

pursuant to that grant of leave.

155

As noted earlier, the judge identified for the jury the issue to which the

opportunity evidence was relevant:

156

Pell v The Queen

the evidence from the church witnesses about processes, practices and
recollections as to how things worked goes to the issue as to whether there
was a realistic opportunity for this offending to have taken place.

He then elaborated on the notion of opportunity in these terms:

In relation to the first charged episode that opportunity includes the
opportunity for two choristers to separate from the procession unnoticed and
without being admonished or stopped; the opportunity for two choristers to
gain access to the unlocked priest sacristy via the south transept, again
without being noticed, admonished or stopped; the opportunity for Cardinal
Pell to enter the priest sacristy very soon after the conclusion of Sunday
solemn Mass, indeed within minutes; the opportunity for Cardinal Pell to
enter the priest sacristy alone and unattended by any church official whilst
robed; the opportunity for Cardinal Pell to remain in the priest sacristy alone
without being interrupted for a period of time so as to do the things he is said

48
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evidence ‘constituted a catalogue of at least 13 solid obstacles in the path of a
conviction’.101
‘starkly and fatally inconsistent with [A’s] account’. To avoid what was said to be

the prosecutor’s ‘flawed” approach in closing, this Court needed to ‘grapple with the

to have done according to the account of [A]; the opportunity for Cardinal
Pell to have committed the sexual acts with his penis in the manner described
by [A] whilst he was in his robes and vestments; the opportunity for two
choristers to then join the choir late without being noticed and admonished.

In relation to the second episode of offending that opportunity includes the
following: the opportunity for Cardinal Pell to be present at another Sunday
solemn Mass at least one month after the first alleged incident; the
opportunity for Cardinal Pell to have been in the sacristy corridor with
choirboys very shortly after the conclusion of Sunday solemn Mass and not
on the steps; the opportunity for Cardinal Pell to have been in the sacristy
corridor alone and unattended by any church official whilst robed.

They are the sort of opportunities that have received a lot of attention and
focus throughout this trial. You will appreciate that [A’s] account requires
each of these opportunities to have arisen and to have occurred.

The submission for Cardinal Pell in this Court was that the opportunity

effect of the whole of the evidence — including its combined effect’.

158

According to the submission:

The evidence as a whole provided no opportunity for the offending described
by [A] to have occurred. For that offending to have been possible, not only
would each of the independent impossibilities ... had to have occurred, but
they would all have to have occurred in the same 10-15 minute period.102

The opportunity evidence was summarised in these terms:

159

The catalogue of impossibilities results from the evidence of almost two
dozen Crown witnesses who, each in their own way and from their own
perspectives, supported each other in the picture they painted of: a
regimented choir; a diligent assistant who did not leave the new
Archbishop’s side; a Priests” Sacristy which was a “hive of activity” in the 10-
15 minutes after Mass; and an Archbishop who greeted parishioners on the
steps from the very first occasions he said Sunday Mass at the Cathedral. As
a body of evidence they stood in stark and diametric opposition to [A’s]
allegations.

Having read (and in some cases watched) the evidence of all of the

101

102

Pell v The Queen

Citing Klamo (2008) 18 VR 644, 654 [40] (Maxwell P).

Emphasis in original.
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The evidence given by the opportunity witnesses was said to be

FERGUSON (]
MAXWELL P



160

161

162

Pell v The Queen 50

opportunity witnesses, we accept that there was general consistency, and substantial
mutual support, in ‘the picture they painted” of what occurred at the Cathedral
before, during and after Sunday Mass in the period when Cardinal Pell was
Archbishop. This is, of course, unsurprising since a defining feature of religious

observance is adherence to ritual and compliance with established practice.

At the same time — and just as unsurprisingly — the evidence of the
opportunity witnesses varied in quality and consistency, and in the degree of recall,
both as between witnesses and within the evidence of individual witnesses. There
are at least two possible explanations for this. First, as senior counsel for Cardinal
Pell accepted on the appeal, the passage of 22 years between the alleged events and
the trial meant that there was, inescapably, a real degree of uncertainty attaching to
the memories of the opportunity witnesses. Secondly, attempting to recall particular
events is all the more difficult when the events being described are — as they were
here — of a kind which was repeated week after week, year after year, and involved
the same participants, in the same setting, performing the same rituals and following

the same routines.

We do not overlook the fact that the two Masses in December 1996 were the
first two occasions on which Cardinal Pell had said Sunday Mass following his
installation as Archbishop. While we would not expect the witnesses to remember
these occasions in any great detail, the first Mass at least was not just another Sunday
Mass. It might be expected that witnesses would recall in general terms that day as
the first of Cardinal Pell's Sunday Masses. But, on the critical issue of whether
Cardinal Pell stood on the steps of the Cathedral on the day of the first or second
Mass, and if so for how long, the recollection of the opportunity witnesses must

necessarily be affected by their recollection of the ritual that developed thereafter.

On A’s account, by contrast, there was every reason for him to remember the
particular conduct which he alleged had occurred. It was not to be expected that he
would recall the dates with any precision, nor other incidental and unimportant

matters. But the particular conduct, and the locations, are likely to have been fixed
FERGUSON (J
MAXWELL P



in his memory in a way which could not be said of anyone else except (on his
account) Cardinal Pell. In contrast to the ‘standing on the steps’ ritual, there were
only two incidents for A to remember. Given the nature of those events, there was a

very good reason for him to recollect them.

163 As the judge made clear to the jury, the lapse of time between the alleged
assaults and the trial was productive of forensic disadvantage for Cardinal Pell. His
Honour gave a detailed direction to the jury on that subject, in accordance with s 39
of the [DA.1%3 He pointed out that Cardinal Pell had lost the opportunity to do a

number of things, namely:

. to make enquiries, or explore the alleged circumstances, at or

close to the time of the alleged offending;

. to ask the church witnesses about any specific recollection of the
dates in question and whether they recalled accompanying him

on the particular occasions;

. to call evidence from the then administrator of the Cathedral,
who had been present at Sunday Masses in the relevant period

but was now mentally infirm;

. to test A’s evidence fully, given his inability to recall specific

detail because of the passage of years; and

° to call evidence from B.
164 We have kept those matters firmly in mind in our review of the evidence.
"Ebb and flow’
165 In relation to the individual witnesses, it is the invariable experience of those

who sit in trials that the progression of a witness’s evidence from examination in

103 The matters the judge must inform the jury about under s39 are ‘the nature of the
disadvantage experienced by the accused” and ‘the need to take the disadvantage into account
when considering the evidence”: JDA s 39(3)(a). The judge ‘must not say, or suggest in any
way, to the jury that it ... would be dangerous or unsafe to convict the accused” or ‘that the
victim’s evidence should be scrutinised with great care’: ats 39(3)(b).
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chief through cross-examination to re-examination is marked by what might be
called “ebb and flow’. That is, the examination in chief will more often than not leave
the evidence in a state favouring the party calling the witness, following which cross-
examination will typically have the effect of diminishing the probative value and/or
credibility of the witness’s evidence, following which there will be an attempt in re-

examination to recover lost ground.

So it was in this trial, and the impression of ‘ebb and flow’” was the more
strongly reinforced with each successive witness called. The overall effect created by
the evidence was that of uncertainty and imprecision. It was not in doubt that there
were routines and practices in place at the Cathedral, and that these were followed
Sunday after Sunday. But no witness could say with certainty that these routines

and practices were never departed from.

For example, Connor was repeatedly asked in cross-examination to confirm
— and did confirm — that various practices were ‘invariable’. But a review of his
evidence as a whole shows that, as might have been expected, Connor could do no
more than confirm that these were established practices. In cross-examination,
Connor agreed that he could not recall any occasion when the Priests” Sacristy had
been unlocked and unattended. In re-examination, however, he confirmed that on
occasions he would arrive at the Sacristy door after Mass to find it unlocked. Asked
whether Potter would at that time have been “off doing something else’”, Connor

could only say that Potter “‘would be usually there waiting for us’.

Nor could any witness say with certainty that it was simply impossible for
two choirboys to have slipped away from the post-Mass procession, as A claimed he
and B had done. As the prosecutor pointed out in final address, there was evidence
that, on one occasion, a choirboy had left the procession early. Of all the opportunity

witnesses, only one recalled this occurrence.

For the reasons already given, it would have been surprising had any

opportunity witness used the language of certainty. Even in a regimented setting

FERGUSON (]
MAXWELL P



170

171

172

173

like the Cathedral, statements about human behaviour can rarely be made with

certainty — especially where the question is, “Could that have happened?’.

What emerges, therefore, is not a ‘catalogue of impossibilities’, as the
applicant contends,!% but a catalogue of uncertainties and possibilities. So far from
the evidence of individual witnesses supporting each other to establish impossibility,
the evidence of the successive witnesses served only to confirm that what A claimed
had occurred was not impossible. Plainly enough, uncertainty multiplied upon
uncertainty does not — cannot — demonstrate impossibility. Moreover, the Crown
could rely on the evidence in discharging its burden to establish that there was a

realistic opportunity for the offending to have occurred.

The point is, we think, powerfully illustrated by the fact that both parties filed
substantial summaries of evidence in support of their respective appeal submissions.
The schedule attached to Cardinal Pell’s written case ran to some 44 pages,
summarising the evidence said to reinforce the ‘obstacles’ identified in the written
case. The Crown’s responding table ran to some 32 pages. Shortly before the
hearing, Cardinal Pell’s representatives filed nine individually-bound volumes
which incorporated, with respect to each topic, both sides’ contentions and the
relevant transcript extracts. The Crown responded with a document of its own,

running to some 37 pages, which senior counsel handed up during oral argument.

Having reviewed this extensive documentation, we make two points about it.
First, it demonstrated that on almost every point both applicant and respondent
could find one or more statements in the transcript which supported their respective
contentions in the appeal. Given what we have already said about ‘ebb and flow’,

this is unsurprising.

Secondly, the fact that each side could call in aid such a substantial body of
material drawn from the evidence reinforces our conclusion that the jury were not

compelled to have a doubt. That is, there was room for debate about the effect of the

Pell v The Queen 53
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evidence — both of individuals and as a whole — on almost every point. More
importantly, there was always a well-founded and proper basis for rejecting

evidence that conflicted with the central elements of A’s account of the offending.

Having reviewed all of the schedules of evidence and material placed before
us on this appeal and having reviewed the evidence for ourselves, we are not
persuaded that the jury must have had a reasonable doubt about the guilt of
Cardinal Pell. Before turning to the more detailed review of that evidence, we
address three separate matters, each of which was said on the appeal to have

constituted an obstacle to conviction, namely:

. B’s denial of having been sexually assaulted;
. Cardinal Pell’s denials in his record of interview; and

. the failure of the prosecution to call Father Egan, the priest who
celebrated Mass on 23 February 1997, the day on Crown alleged

the second incident had occurred.

B’s denial

As noted earlier, when B was asked by his mother in 2001 whether he had
ever been offended against while in the Cathedral choir, he said that he had not. (By
agreement, the content of this conversation was put before the jury through the
informant.) According to the submission for Cardinal Pell, the jury could not convict
unless it could “set aside” B’s denial. The contention in oral argument was that the
fact of the denial was sufficient to raise a reasonable doubt and that, in order for that
doubt to have been dispelled or resolved, there would need to have been ‘something

in the nature of a rejection’ of B’s denial.

The submission for the Crown was that the jury were entitled to ‘reject the

hearsay evidence’ of B’s denial. According to the written case:

Sadly, an unwillingness by a victim of child sex abuse to disclose to those
closest to him is all too familiar. Without speculating, there may be many
reasons why a teenager might so deny abuse when questioned by his mother.

FERGUSON (]
MAXWELL P



177

178

179

It was said that, in final address, the prosecutor had made a submission to this effect

and had done so

by agreement as between the parties thereby absolving the Crown of the need

to call expert evidence on the question concerning whether victims of sexual

assault necessarily complain or even admit to such assault upon questioning,.

Thus, by agreement, it was left open to the jury to be persuaded by this

argument if they saw fit to do so.

There was some discussion in argument about the genesis of this agreement
and whether any such expert evidence would have been admissible.’®> The Court
was subsequently provided with correspondence between the parties’ legal
representatives, which had resulted in the prosecutor making the following

submission to the jury, without objection, in his final address:

[W]hilst a denial of sexual abuse by [B] may mean that the sexual abuse did
not occur, it does not necessarily mean that is the case. There may be reasons
why a 17 or 18 year old male would not want to tell his mother that he was
sexually abused as a child. Whilst we cannot speculate, and of course there is
no evidence from [B] or anyone that knew him, those reasons may include
embarrassment, shame and/or a desire to protect his mother or an
unwillingness to burden her. Perhaps he did not want to perceive himself as
a victim or be considered less than manly.

Defence counsel’s final address to the jury did not engage with this
submission. He referred on a number of occasions to B’s denial but it was given no
particular prominence in the defence submissions. By contrast, and consistently

with the approach taken in cross-examination, counsel laid particular emphasis on

A’s failure to say anything to B about either alleged incident.

The evidence of B’s denial was a significant matter which the jury had to
address in their deliberations. But it was only one of the factors which they had to
consider in deciding whether they were satistfied that A was a truthful witness and

whether what he said could be accepted beyond reasonable doubt. The defence

Pell v The Queen 55

105 Counsel for the applicant referred to the judgment of Gleeson CJ in HG v The Queen (1999) 197
CLR 414, 419-29. |DA s46(3)(d)(i) provides that the trial judge must inform a jury that
experience shows that “people may react differently to sexual offences and there is no typical,
proper or normal response to a sexual offence.” Section 53 of the JDA provides that, if
requested by the prosecution, the trial judge may ‘direct the jury that there may be good
reasons why a person may not complain, or may delay in complaining, about a sexual
offence’.
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were right, in our view, to concede that the prosecutor should be able to advance
possible explanations for B having denied the occurrence of something which had
actually taken place. These were explanations based on ‘common sense and
ordinary human experience’.1% The jury were well able to assess the possibility that

it was a false denial.

Accordingly, the evidence of B’s denial, while it weighed against the Crown’s

case, did not of itself oblige the jury to have a reasonable doubt.

Cardinal Pell’s denials

As noted earlier, Cardinal Pell voluntarily participated in a record of
interview with police. The interview took place in October 2016. At the outset,
Cardinal Pell was given the opportunity to read a prepared statement, in which he
said:

From what I have been told, the allegations involve vile and disgusting
conduct contrary to everything I hold dear and contrary to the explicit
teachings of the Church which I have spent my life representing. They’re
made against me knowing that I was the first person in the Western world to
create a church structure to recognise, compensate and help to heal the
wounds inflicted by sexual abuse of children at the hands of some in the
Catholic church. Iintend to answer all the questions asked of me.

And further:

The most rudimentary interview of staff and those who were choirboys at the
Cathedral in that year and later would confirm that the allegations are
fundamentally improbable and most certainly false ...

The informant then proceeded to describe the allegations which comprise the

tirst incident. Cardinal Pell then gave a lengthy response in these terms:

most things on these or this story is counterfactual and with a bit of luck I'll
be able to demonstrate ... point by point. ... The first thing is that after every
Mass ... I would s